Technical University of Denmark



Characterisation and Treatment of Nano-sized Particles, Colloids and Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater

Nielsen, Katrine; Eriksson, Eva; Strömvall, Ann-Margret ; Baun, Anders

Publication date: 2015

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link back to DTU Orbit

Citation (APA):

Nielsen, K., Eriksson, E., Strömvall, A-M., & Baun, A. (2015). Characterisation and Treatment of Nano-sized Particles, Colloids and Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater. Kgs. Lyngby: Technical University of Denmark, DTU Environment.

DTU Library Technical Information Center of Denmark

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
- You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Characterisation and Treatment of Nano-sized Particles, Colloids and Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater



Katrine Nielsen

DTU Environment Department of Environmental Engineering

PhD Thesis June 2015

Characterisation and Treatment of Nanosized Particles, Colloids and Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater

Katrine Nielsen

PhD Thesis June 2015

DTU Environment Department of Environmental Engineering Technical University of Denmark

Katrine Nielsen

Characterisation and Treatment of Nano-sized Particles, Colloids and Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater

PhD Thesis, June 2015

The synopsis part of this thesis is available as a pdf-file for download from the DTU research database ORBIT: http://www.orbit.dtu.dk

Address:	DTU Environment Department of Environmental Engineering Technical University of Denmark Miljoevej, building 113 2800 Kgs. Lyngby Denmark
Phone reception: Fax:	+45 4525 1600 +45 4593 2850
Homepage: E-mail:	http://www.env.dtu.dk info@env.dtu.dk
Printed by:	GraphicCo June 2015
Cover:	Torben Dolin

Preface

This PhD thesis presents the outcome of a project conducted in collaboration between the Department of Environmental Engineering, Technical University of Denmark (DTU) and the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Chalmers University of Technology, Gothenburg, Sweden, in the period of December 2011 to May 2015. The majority of the experiments were conducted at DTU. A 3-month stay at Chalmers gave me the opportunity to work with new experimental methods. The project was founded by the Nordic Five Tech alliance (N5T) as a DTU scholarship. The project was supervised by Associate Professor Eva Eriksson as the main supervisor, and co-supervised by Associate Professor Ann-Margret Strömvall and Professor Anders Baun.

The thesis is organised in two parts: the first part puts the findings of the PhD into context in an introductive review; the second part consists of the papers listed below. These will be referred to in the text by their paper number written with the Roman numerals I–V.

- I. Nielsen K., Mørch-Madsen A., Baun A. and Eriksson E. Characterisation and stability of humic acid and iron nano-sized colloids intended for simulated stormwater experiments (*Submitted*).
- **II.** Nielsen K., Mikkelsen P. S., Sebastian C. and Eriksson E. Physical and chemical characterisation of stormwater particles ($< 50 \mu m$) and associated metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (*Manuscript*).
- III. Nielsen K., Mørch-Madsen A., Mikkelsen P. S., Eriksson E.. Effect of Disc Filtration with and without Addition of Flocculent on Nano- and Micro-Particles and Their Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater. *Water*, 2015, 7, 1306–132
- **IV.** Nielsen K., Mayer P., Eriksson E. Co-transport of PAHs by Particulate Matter, Colloids and Nano-sized Particles using Analytical Passive Dosing to Determine the Enhanced Capacity of Stormwater (*Manuscript*).
 - V. Nielsen K., Kalmykova Y., Strömvall A-M., Baun A., Eriksson E. Particle Phase Distribution of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater – Using Humic Acid and Iron Nano-sized Colloids as Test Particles. Science of the Total Environment Science of the Total Environment, 2015, 532, 103–111

In this online version of the thesis, paper **I-V** are not included but can be obtained from electronic article databases e.g. via www.orbit.dtu.dk or on request from DTU Environment, Technical University of Denmark, Miljøvej, Building 113, 2800 Kgs. Lyngby, Denmark, <u>info@env.dtu.dk</u>

In addition, the following publications, not included in this thesis, were also concluded during this PhD study:

Sørud M., Nielsen K., Damskier S. S., Jørgensen A. T., Petersen M. F., Rasmussen L. K., Mikkelsen P. S., Eriksson E. (2013) DEMFIL – treatment of stormwater for recreational use. In proceedings (oral presentation, not attending). NORDIWA 2013: 13th Nordic Wastewater Conference, October 8–10, Malmö, Sweden.

Nørlem M., Petersen M. F., Mørch-Madsen A., Mikkelsen P. S., Eriksson E., Nielsen K., Rasmussen L. K. (2014) Demonstrationsanlæg for Filtrering af vejvand for udledning til ferskvandsområde: Afrapportering for projekt støttet af VTU - Fonden.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors — Associate Professor Eva Eriksson, Associate Professor Ann-Margret Strömvall, and Professor Anders Baun — for valuable sparring through this PhD study.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Professor Peter Steen Mikkelsen (DTU) for his keen interest in my project and for always being there when help was needed. A thank-you is also given to Associated Professor Yuliya Kalmykova (Chalmers) for collaboration during the project.

I would also like to thank all of my co-authors for their collaboration during the publishing of our papers.

I would like to thank all of my colleagues at DTU Environment for making my work interesting, fun, and more than just a normal working day. I have had some great office mates who have been there when work has been difficult, but have also been there when it was time for celebration — for this I am forever grateful.

I would like to thank Dr. Mohammed Baalousha, Assistant Professor at the Center for Environmental NanoScience and Risk, University of South Carolina, USA, for his collaboration on Transmission Electron Microscope (TEM) pictures of particles in stormwater.

I would also like to thank Dr. Christian Engelbrekt, Postdoc at the Department of Chemistry, Technical University of Denmark, for his assistance with measurements on the NanoSight instrument. Likewise, I would like to thank Laboratory Technician Larisa Seerup, Department of Energy Conversion and Storage, for assistance on measurements on the Laser Particle Sizer.

During my 3-month stay at Chalmers (Sweden), I met new colleagues and friends who all took good care of me and made me feel at home. Thanks to all of you for making my stay a special time. I would especially like to thank Research Engineer Mona Pålsson for her assistance in the lab. I would like to thank the Otto Mønsted Foundation for help with the financing of the stay.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for putting up with me during stressed times and supporting me through this journey.

"The only man who never makes a mistake is the man who never does anything."

Theodore Roosevelt, 1900

Summary

Stormwater from urban areas contains a vast array of different pollutants, including particulate matter and organic and inorganic compounds as well as microbial pollution. These compounds can be found associated with particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater. The associated pollutants will, if not removed in stormwater treatment facilities, be discharged into receiving surface waters, due to enhanced transportation exerted by the colloids and nano-sized particles. More stormwater than previously is separated from wastewater and drained to stormwater treatment facilities in Denmark. This is a consequence of climate changes, with increasing precipitation in Europe. The increased precipitation causes problems with hydraulic overloading of sewer systems and therefore stormwater is directed into stormwater drainage systems and to stormwater treatment facilities.

Since little is known about the colloids and nano-sized particle-enhanced transportation of pollutants in stormwater, it has been difficult to determine their quantitative role in the total release of pollutants into receiving waters. Therefore the main purpose of this thesis has been to document the presence and size distribution of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater, as well as quantify the particle-enhanced transportation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in stormwater.

Stormwater from five sites in Europe was collected to characterise the particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles in the stormwater, in terms of particle size distribution (PSD) and zeta potential. In combination with the characterisation of the particles, concentrations of organic and inorganic compounds were quantified in the stormwater, with a focus on PAHs, together with physical and chemical parameters such as pH, Total Suspended Solid (TSS), turbidity, and electrical conductivity.

The five sites where stormwater was sampled from used two different methods of stormwater treatment: settling and filtration, and four different treatment techniques: detention ponds, stormwater pond, disc filter and combined sedimentation tanks. From all sites, inlet and outlet stormwater were collected, and pollutant concentrations were quantified as well as the removal efficiencies calculated. The colloidal and nano-sized particle-enhanced transportation of pollutants was also scrutinised in the stormwater. The μ m-range PSD measured in the stormwater showed that the majority of the particles were < 10 μ m in diameter (both inlet and outlet samples). The nm-range PSD on the colloids and nano-sized particles was found in the size range of 50–200 nm in diameter. The zeta potentials were negative for all of the stormwater (-13 – -50 mV), indicating a negative surface charge. This indicates that the particles in the stormwater were of clay and silt and also humic and fulvic acids.

For all five stormwater treatment facilities, the measurements showed a reduction of particulate matter, quantified as TSS and turbidity, as well as organic and inorganic pollutant content from the inlet to the outlet samples. The PSD was found to be identical for inlet and outlet samples, despite a reduction in pollutant components. Sorption experiments using stormwater and a passive dosing technique revealed that the stormwater particulate fractions were able to sorb PAHs, thereby enhancing the transportation in stormwater.

In the stormwater collected from the four of the five different sites was PAHs found associated with the particulate fraction containing the large particles (> 0.7 μ m). The PAHs were also found sorbed to the colloids (4.2-56%) and occurred in the dissolved fraction (0.9-25%). From one of the sites, 82% of the PAHs were found in the particulate fraction in the inlet sample and 18% in the colloidal fraction (< 0.7 μ m). The PAHs occurred also in both fractions in the outlet samples, but in lower concentrations. Overall, it was found that 30–40% of the PAHs were associated with colloids (< 0.7 μ m), and that the PAHs of 4–5 aromatic rings were more often in association with the colloid and nano-sized particles than with particles > 10 μ m.

The particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles are able to sorb PAHs and thereby enhance the transportation of PAHs in stormwater systems. To gain a better understanding of the colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater, techniques to separate nano-sized particles and colloids should be further investigated. Thereby a more quantitative measurement of the PSD could be achieved.

Dansk sammenfatning

Afstømmet regnvand fra byområder indeholder forurening i form af partikler organiske og uorganiske stoffer. Disse stoffer kan findes bundet til partikler, kolloider og partikler i nano-størrelse. De bundne stoffer vil, hvis ikke fjernet gennem rensning, blive udledt til overfladevand på grund af den forøgede transport sammen med partiklerne. Mængden af afstrømmet regnvand, der er separeret fra fælleskloak-systemet og ledt til regnvandsrensningssystemer er øget igennem tiden. Dette er b.la. en konsekvens af klimaændringer med en øget mængdenedbør over Europa. Den øgede nedbør har medført problemer med hydraulisk overbelastning af kloaksystemer og derfor bliver afstrømmet regnvand ledt til separate kloaker og videre til regnvands opsamlingssystemer.

Kun sparsom litteratur om øget transport af stoffer sorberet på kolloider og partikler i nano-størrelse i afstrømmet regnvand tilgængelig. Derfor er det vanskeligt at bestemme deres bidrag til forøgede transport af forurenende stoffer i afstrømmet regnvand. Hovedformålet med denne afhandling har været at dokumentere tilstedeværelsen og størrelsesfordelingen af kolloider og partikler i nano-størrelse i afstrømmet regnvand, samt at kvantificere den forøgede transport af polycykliske aromatiske kulbrinter (PAH'er) i afstrømmet regnvand.

Afstrømmet regnvand fra fem lokaliteter i Europa blev indsamlet til karakteriseringen af partikler, kolloider og partikler i nano-størrelse i afstrømmet regnvand, i form af partikelstørrelsesfordeling og zeta-potentiale. I kombination med karakterisering af partiklerne, blev koncentrationerne af organiske og uorganiske forbindelser målt i det afstrømmede regnvand, med fokus på PAH'er samt fysiske og kemiske parametre som pH, Total Suspended Solid (TSS), turbiditet og elektrisk ledningsevne.

De fem lokaliteter hvorfra afstrømmet regnvand blev indsamlet, anvender to forskellige metoder til regnvandsbehandling: bundfældning og filtrering. På de fem lokaliteter blev tre forskellige regnvandsbehandlingsteknikker brugt, regnvandsbassin, diskfilter og serieforbundet bundfældningstanke. Fra alle lokaliteter blev der indsamlet indløbs- og udløbs-prøver for at kunne bestemme fjernelseseffektiviteten i de forskellige metoder og derved bedømme den forøgede transport af forurenende stoffer i afstrømmet regnvand. Partikelstørrelsefordelinger målt i afstrømmet regnvand viste, at hovedparten af partiklerne havde en partikel størrelsefordeling på <10 μ m i diameter, set både i indløbet og udløbet. Kolloiderne og partikler i nano-størrelse viste sig at være i størrelsesordenen 50–200 nm i diameter. Transmission Elektron Mikroskop billeder bekræftede de målte størrelser af kolloider og partikler i nano-størrelse.

Alle de undersøgte afstrømmede regnvands anlæg viste reduktion i TSS, turbiditet og organiske og uorganiske forurenende stoffer, selv om PSD viste sig at være den samme for indløbs- og udløbs -prøverne. Sorptions forsøg med afstrømmet regnvand og passiv dosseingsteknik viste at både partikler >10 μ m, kolloider og nano-partikler var i stand til at binde PAH'er og dermed øge stoftransporten i regnvand.

Polycykliske aromatiske kulbrinter blev fundet i forbindelse med partikler og kolloider i regnvand. Fra en af lokaliteterne blev det målt at 82% af PAH'er blev fundet i den partikulære fraktion (partikler >0.7 um) i indløbet og 18% blev fundet i fraktionen indeholdende partikler og kolloider (<0.7 um). For udløbsprøver blev PAH'er også målt i begge fraktioner.

Overordnet set var 30–40% af PAH'erne i kombination med kolloider og nano-størrelse partikler (<0.7 um), og de 4–5 ringede PAH'er blev oftere fundet i forbindelse med kolloider og partikler i nano-størrelse end det var tilfældet for partikler >1 μ m.

Resultaterne af denne ph.d.-afhandling viser, at kolloider og partikler i nanostørrelse findes i afstrømmet regnvand, og at de kan være med til at forøge transporten af PAH'er. Partikelstørrelsefordelingesmålinger af kolloider og partikler i nano-størrelse i afstrømmet regnvand kan foretages med visse forbehold. Hvis der skal opnås en bedre forståelse for kolloider og nanostørrelse partiklers størrelser i afstrømmet regnvand skal en adskillelse af partiklerne opnås før mere kvantitative størrelsesmålinger kan opnås.

Table of contents

1	Introduction	.1
	1.1 Aim and Objectives of the PhD Thesis	3
-		4
2	Urbanisation and Stormwater	.7
	2.1 European Legislation of Stormwater.	9
	2.2Current Status of Water Framework Directive	11
	2.3 Stormwater Pollutants	11
	2.41norganic Pollutants in Stormwater	15
	2.5 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater	10
	2.5.1 Foryeyene Aromatic Trydrocaroons as compounds	10
2		17
3	Particulate Matter, Colloids and Nano-sized Particles in Stormwater	·
		23
	3.1 Characterisation of Particulate Matter, Colloids and Nano-sized Particles	1n 24
	Stormwater	24
	3.1.2 Characterising of Particulate Matter Using Coulter Counter	20
	3.1.3 Characterising of Colloids and Nano-sized Particles Using DLS	29
	3.2PAHs Associated with Particles, colloids and Nano-sized Particles	in
	Stormwater	33
	3.2.1 Sorption of PAHs to Colloids and Nano-sized Particles	37
1	Stormwater Treatment Facilities	30
7	A 1 Ponds	4 0
	4 2 Disc Filters	40 41
	4 30ther Treatment Techniques	41 42
	4 4Removal Efficiencies of Particulate matter Metals and PAHs in Stormwa	ter
	Treatment Facilities	43
	4.5 Treatment Effect on Particle Size Distribution	45
5	Overview and Perspectives	47
0	5 1 Particle Size Distribution in Stormwater	48
	5.2 Terminology	48
	5.3Legislation	49
6	Conclusion	51
7	References	53
, 0		
ð	rapers	01

Abbreviations

Ace	Acenaphthene
Acy	Acenaphthylene
Ant	Anthracene
BaAnt	Benzo[a]anthracene
BaPyr	Benzo[a]pyrene
BbFlu	Benzo[b]fluoranthene
BghiPer	Benzo[ghi]perylene
BkFlu	Benzo[k]fluoranthene
BOD	Biological Oxygen Demand
Chy	Chrysene
DiAnt	Dibenzo[a,h]anthracene
DLS	Dynamic Light Scattering
EC	Electrical Conductivity
EEA	European Environmental Agency
ERP	Electrical Resistive Pulse
EQS	Environmental Quality Standards
EU	European Union
Fe-n	Nano-sized iron(III)
Flt	Fluoranthene
Flu	Fluorene
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
HA-n	Nano-sized humic acid
HMW	High-molecular weight
LAR	Lokal Afledet Regnvand
LID	Low Impact Development
LLE	Liquid–Liquid extraction
Log K _{ow}	Octanol-water partitioning constant
LMW	Low-molecular weight
MMW	Medium-molecular weight
NAP	Naphthalene
nm	Nanometre (10^{-9})
NVOC	Non-Volatile Organic Carbon
NPDES	National Pollution Discharge Elimination System
PAHs	Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons
Phe	Phenanthrene
PSD	Particle Size Distribution
Pyr	Pyrene

SPE Solid Phase Extr	action
----------------------	--------

- TEM Transmission Electron Microscope
- TSS Total Suspended Solid
- US-EPA United States of America Environment Protection Agency
- WFD Water Framework Directive
- WWTP Waste Water Treatment Plant

1 Introduction

During the last 20 years, interest in stormwater quality has increased. Reasons for this include requests to use stormwater for gardening purposes or in households, and an environmental concern for discharging untreated stormwater directly into lakes, rivers and the sea. From a water utility point of view, a highly attractive form of separating stormwater from wastewater is to construct separate storm sewer systems in publically owned areas, e.g. roads (Malamataris 2014).

Climate changes with increased precipitation and, more frequently, heavy rain events have caused flooding's of streets and buildings around the world. The annual average precipitation in Northern and Central Europe has increased during the last century as a consequence of climate change (Hartmann et al. 2013). With an expected increase in daily precipitation, and especially more heavy rain events, overloading the combined sewers will increase in the future, yielding combined sewer overflow and creating a bigger need for separating stormwater from wastewater (Fowler et al. 1995).

Separating stormwater from wastewater became a national interest in Denmark after 2nd July 2011, when a cloudburst hit the Copenhagen area with 30–90 mm of rain during 24 hours and with a maximum intensity of 3.1 mm/min over two minutes in the most affected sites (Vejen 2011). The damage caused by combined sewer overflow and the flooding of roads and buildings, as well as health effects, was estimated at 0.64 billion euros (Johannsdottir et al. 2014). This major cloudburst, combined with smaller cloudbursts in the years before and after, together with daily problems with hydraulic overloading of combined sewers, has had intensive media coverage, whereby increasing the public awareness of separating stormwater from wastewater and the combined sewer system (Ingeniøren 2012).

Pollutants in stormwater have been shown by researchers throughout the literature (Förster 1999; Eriksson 2002; Grant et al. 2003; Göbel et al. 2007; Hvitved-Jacobsen et al. 2010a; Björklund 2011). The content of pollutants changes with the catchment area, especially with the activities in the catchment. Stormwater from roads and parking areas contains metals, organic compounds such as e.g. polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), phthalates (plasticizers) and oil components. Rooftops can release metals and green areas have been shown to contribute with pesticides (Revitt et al. 1990; Zgheib et al. 2011). Particulate matters are considered a polluting component in stormwater. Total Suspended Solid (TSS) and turbidity are used to describe the concentration of particles found in water, and high TSS and turbidity indicate high numbers of particles in an aqueous sample. They do, however, not measure a certain size of the particles. TSS is analysed by filtrating a sample through a filter with a known mesh size, giving the weight per volume for the particles bigger than the chosen filter (EPA method 160.2). Turbidity is the density of particles in a sample by scattering at a selected wavelength. Techniques such as Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) and Electrical Resistive Pulse (ERP) are used for measuring particle sizes, give a description of the particle size distribution (PSD) in an aqueous sample. The DLS and ERP techniques have been used to find PSD in stormwater, but not on a regular basis (Westerlund et al. 2006).

The interest in particles in stormwater relates to the evidence that particles are sorbing polluting compounds and, thereby, are able to transport the pollutants around in stormwater systems (Grant et al. 2003; Roesner et al. 2007; Kalmykova et al. 2013; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III). Stormwater particles >0.45 μ m will sediment in treatment facilities as detention ponds, thereby retaining and accumulating pollutants in the sediment. Large gravel particles with a surface of 2–64 mm will sediment quickly (seconds), while small silt particles (0.06–1 mm) will need hours to settle. Particulate matter such as colloids (having a large surface size, but a small volume) will take years to settle (Roesner et al. 2007; Dietrich 1982). Smaller particles, including colloids and nano-sized particles have been shown to be discharged from stormwater treatment facilities, thereby enhancing the transport of pollutants to receiving waters (Brown et al. 2003; Göbel et al. 2007; Kalmykova et al. 2013; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V).

Phase separation of pollutant concentrations present in stormwater is described as: total, suspended, particulate and dissolved. The total fraction contains dissolved compounds, colloids, nano-sized particles, and bigger particles. The suspended fraction contains dissolved compounds, colloids, and nano-sized particles. The particulate fraction is defined as that which is retained on filters, often quantified by subtracting the suspended fraction from the total fraction or by measuring the concentration retained by the filter (Nielsen et al. 2015 – paper III).

The amount of particles found in stormwater depends on different conditions. TSS has been measured in a range of 0.5–5700 mg/L (Petersen et al. 2013), and turbidity of 1.5–400 NTU. Stormwater during the winter seasons will

often show high values of TSS and turbidity, due to de-icing agents used on roads and traffic areas. A long and pre-existing dry period will create an accumulation of particles on urban surfaces (Kim et al. 2007). The catchment from where the stormwater originates is also influencing the type and concentration of particles. Areas with high traffic intensities will release higher concentrations of particles, due to a higher level of wear and tear on roads and tyres, than less intensively trafficked areas (Grant et al. 2003).

The non-polar, hydrophobic PAHs are found to be associated with stormwater particles. The PAHs are considered carcinogenic, cause mutagenic effects in humans and biota, and are listed as some of the compounds most likely to cause effects on aquatic life or human health by the US EPA (Watts et al. 2010). Traffic activities have shown a positive correlation with increasing levels of PAHs in stormwater (Moilleron et al. 2002; Murakami et al. 2005; Van Metre et al. 2000). An important identified source of PAHs in stormwater are the aromatic-rich oils which were added to rubber tyres until 2010, when the EU banned the use of them (Directive 2005/69/EC; Norin & Strömvall 2004; Wik & Dave 2005).

The PAHs have shown, besides accumulating in urban road-side sediments and stormwater pond sediments, to accumulate in coastal estuarine and marine sediments. The concentrations in the sediments have increased over time, indicating multiple discharges associated with industrialisation and urbanisation, especially the release from vehicles and tear of asphalt (Bathi et al. 2012). Although some PAHs are naturally occurring from, for example, forest fires, volcanoes and wood burning, the majority of the PAHs found in stormwater are from anthropogenic sources, e.g. the release of petroleum products or combustion of organic matter, including coal. Regardless of the source, stormwater in urban areas is a major delivery system of PAHs to receiving water bodies (Stein et al. 2006).

1.1 Aim and Objectives of the PhD Thesis

In the present study, the overall aim is to document the presence and size distribution of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater and to quantify the particle-enhanced transportation of PAHs.

The focus in this thesis is, therefore, on natural and artificial colloids and nano-sized particles, as well as on PAHs in stormwater with the following specific objectives:

To characterise the particle size distribution of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater, and quantify the content of PAHs in the total, particulate, colloidal as well as dissolved fractions of stormwater.

To study the role of colloidal and nano-sized particles for the transport of PAHs in stormwater using stimulated stormwater and real stormwater.

To evaluate the performance of selected stormwater treatment technologies for colloidal and nano-sized particle pollution mitigation, in terms of removal efficiencies.

1.2 Methods and Overview of Thesis

Overall, the papers included in this thesis focus on the three different objectives described above, which are listed in **Table 1**. To fulfil the aims of this thesis, literature studies and fieldwork have been conducted and analysis methods already described in the literature have been used.

		Р	apers		
	I	II	· III	IV	V
Characterisation of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater	x	x	х		x
To study the role of colloidal and nano-sized particles for the transport of PAHs in storm-water	x		x	x	x
Evaluate removal efficiencies of particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles, associated with metals and PAHs in storm- water treatment facilities		x	x		x

Table 1: The specific objectives of this thesis, showing the linked papers.

In the characterisation of the colloids and nano-sized particles, different methods for the PSD has been used. The methods have, prior to analysis of stormwater samples, been applied to simulated stormwater containing nano-sized humic acid colloids (HA-n) and nano-sized iron(III) particles (Fe-n). To describe the content of stormwater particles and their associated pollutants, stormwater has been collected from five different sites in Europe. The five sites, in combination with a short description of their catchment and stormwater treatment technique, are shown in **Table 2**.

City/Country	Site	Catchment	Treatment Technique
Lyon, France	Django Reinhardt	Industrial area of 1.85 km ² with 75% impervious surface ¹	Detention pond ¹
Cothonburg	Gårda	Highway, roads, parking lots and employment office area. 0.051 km ² with 40% impervious surface ²	Seven combined un- derground sedimenta- tion tanks ²
Sweden	Järnbrott	Roads, highway, 30% commercial and industrial area and 70% residen- tial area. 4.78 km ² with 37% impervi- ous surface ³	Stormwater pond ^{3, 4}
Bagsvaerd, Denmark	DemFil	3km ² residential area with small roads and low traffic ⁴	Disc filter filtration, with and without adding a flocculant ⁴
Albertslund, Denmark	Basin K	0.9km ² industrial area with 37% impervious surface ⁵	Detention pond ⁵

Table 2: Description of sites, catchments, and treatment technology of the five different sites where stormwater samples were sampled for the experimental work.

1: Sebastian et al. (2014), 2: Pettersson et al. (2005), 3: Strömvall et al. (2006), 4: Pettersson (1999), 5: Nielsen et al. (2015), 6: Vezzaro et al. (2015)

Chapter 2 of the thesis describes how urbanisation, stormwater and pollution, especially PAHs, are connected and explains the reasons why stormwater could be in conflict with the demands in the Water Framework Directive (Papers II, III and V).

Chapter 3 introduces colloids and nano-sized particles, and particulate matter in general in stormwater, and describes how colloids and nano-sized particles can contribute to enhanced transportation of PAHs. The different PSD methods are described and PSD results of simulated as well as sampled stormwater are shown (Papers I, II, III and IV).

In chapter 4, an overall description of different stormwater treatment techniques (with their benefits and drawbacks) is given using the results from papers **II**, **III** and **V**.

In chapter 5, results found in papers I-V will be discussed in relation to the overall aim and specific objectives of this thesis project.

2 Urbanisation and Stormwater

Urbanisation has a large influence on the quality of stormwater. Precipitation, e.g. rain, fog and snow, in urban areas will fall on roofs, roads, streets, gardens and green areas. Some of the precipitation will be removed by evapotranspiration and infiltration, and some will become surface runoff (stormwater) drained into the sewer system. Collection and treatment of stormwater can be controlled in different ways. One is by collecting the water in combined sewer systems for treatment at the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), together with the wastewater. Another option is to collect the stormwater in a separate sewer system with discharge directly to receiving water or transport to a stormwater treatment facility. Figure 1 illustrates some of the routes in which urban stormwater can be conveyed out of the urban area. As urban areas have increased in size and density over the last century, the areas covered with impervious surfaces have followed. The impermeable surfaces prevent the stormwater from infiltrating into the soil and, at the same time, creating runoff ways for the stormwater. In rural land, stormwater will infiltrate into the soil and the volume of stormwater reaching receiving waters will be much less than that of an urban area (Henze et al. 2004).



Figure 1: Stormwater routes in the urban area compared to the rural land. Impervious surfaces prevent the stormwater from leaching into the soil and a bigger volume of stormwater is entering stormwater treatment facilities compared to the rural land. (Illustrated by P. M. Nielsen, 2015).

The impervious surfaces and sewer systems create a high flow of urban stormwater, resulting in increased water flow from urban areas to WWTPs or receiving waters. The initial period of runoff stormwater will contain a higher concentration of suspended solid and other pollutants than later on in the run-off period; this phenomenon is known as the first flush (Gupta et al. 1996; Sansalone et al. 2004). **Figure 2** illustrates the increase in peak height, i.e. stormwater intensity and size, when the land is increasingly urbanised. The first flush will, besides causing a deterioration of the receiving water quality, also create a danger for erosion of river banks and a sudden flooding of receiving waters, together with a decreased treatment in the WWTP (Lee et al. 2002).



Figure 2: Illustration of how urbanisation creates a higher peak flow of stormwater during a rain event (modified from Arnold et al. 1996).

Even though a longer dry period is expected to create a higher concentration of pollutants in stormwater, there is no clear evidence of a correlation between the concentrations of pollutants found in the first flush and days of dry weather (Bertrand-Krajewski et al. 1998; Lee et al. 2002; Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II). It has been shown that the rainfall intensity and duration were the most important parameters influencing the first flush load of TSS (Gupta & Saul 1996). The pollutants found in the first flush are often transported from the atmosphere (Gunawardena et al. 2013). Pollutants transported from the atmosphere to urban surfaces must be dissolved in the rain drops or sorbed to

particles in order to end up in stormwater (Seinfeld et al. 2006). Pollutants found in stormwater from roads are mainly from wet and dry atmospheric deposition and from the traffic (Göbel et al. 2007).

2.1 European Legislation of Stormwater

Implementation of the WFD in 2000 by the EU Parliament was to protect and restore clean water across Europe, and to ensure its long-term and sustainable use (WFD 2000/60/EC). The WFD has the aim as a minimum to achieve a "good status" in terms of biological and chemical, for all inland surface waters, transitional waters, coastal waters, groundwater and thereby, the receiving waters of stormwater by 2015. The "good" status describes the ecological and chemical status separately. The "good status" is generally defined as follows: "*The values of the biological quality elements for the surface water body type show low levels of distortion resulting from human activity, but deviate only slightly from those normally associated with the surface water body type under undisturbed conditions*" (WFD 2000/60/EC/annex V). This means that the authority has to define the biological quality of the surface water is of good status.

The good chemical status is defined as ".....the chemical status required to meet the environmental objectives for surface waters established in Article 4(1)(a), that is the chemical status achieved by a body of surface water in which concentrations of pollutants do not exceed the environmental quality standards established in Annex IX and under Article 16(7), and under other relevant Community legislation setting environmental quality standards at Community level". The directive does not state limitations for chemical compounds in discharged stormwater to surface water. Article 4 describes the objectives of management plans, and Article 16 the strategy plan "... against pollution of water by individual pollutants or groups of pollutants presenting a significant risk to or via the aquatic environment, including such risks to waters used for the abstraction of drinking water". Annex IX contains the only specific discharge concentrations where compounds such as mercury (Hg), cadmium (Cd) and specific dangerous compounds such as the insecticide DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane) and the organic solvent CCl₄ (tetrachloromethane) are described.

Environmental quality standards (EQS) for aquatic environments have been implemented in the Danish legislation for surface water, sediment and biota through a Statutory Order (BEK nr. 1022, 2010). The legislation distinguishes between a general long-term EQS, applied as an average concentration found in an aquatic environment over a year (may not be exceeded), or and a short-term (acute, 24 h) concentration allowed to exceed the long-term (general) standard. **Table 3** summarises selected organic and inorganic chemicals in general and short-term concentrations allowed in surface waters. The WFD only states the EQS for the receiving surface waters; nothing is stated about the quality of the water being discharged, or emission limit values.

	General ^a EQS	Short-term [♭]
	for inland sur-	EQS for in-
Compound	face waters	land surface
	(µg/L)	waters (µg/L)
Organic		
Naphthalene	2.4	Not in use
Acenaphthylene	1.3	3.8
Acenaphthene	3.8	3.8
Fluorene	2.3	21.2
Phenanthrene	1.3	4.1
Anthracene	0.1	0.4
Pyrene	0.0046	0.023
Fluoranthene	0.1	1
Chrysene	0.014	0.014
Benzo(a)anthracene	0.012	0.018
Benzo(a)pyrene	0.05	0.1
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	0.03	Not in use
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	0.03	Not in use
Benzo(ghi)perylene	0.002	Not in use
Inorganic ^c		
Arsenic As	4.3	43
Barium Ba ^d	9.3	145
Cadmium Cd	0.08 – 0.25	0.45 – 1.5
Cobalt Co ^d	0.28	18
Chromium Cr (III and VI)	3.4 - 4.9	17 – 124
Copper Cu ^d	1	2
Manganese Mn ^d	150	420
Molybdenum Mo	67	587
Nickel Ni ^d	2.3	6.8
Lead Pb ^c	0.34	2.8
Strontium Sr	210	553
Vanadium V ^d	4.1	57.8
Zinc Zn ^d	7.8	8.4

Table 3: Danish Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) for selected inorganic and organic chemicals in surface waters (BEK 1022, 2010).

a) Average concentration over a year. b) Maximum allowed concentration for 24 hours. c) Dissolved concentration filtrated through a 0.45 µm filter or similar. d) Background concentration is taken into consideration.

2.2 Current Status of Water Framework Directive

The latest published status (2015) for the WFD is described by the European Environmental Agency (EEA). In 2009, 43% of the surface waters in Europe had achieved the status of good or a high ecological status. It is estimated that 53% of the surface water will have reached a good status in 2015, which, however, is lower than that set by the directive. It is observed that rivers and transitional waters are in worse condition than lakes and coastal waters. Ecological status concerns are mostly seen for surface waters in Central and Northwestern Europe, where the population is dense and agriculture is intensive (EEA 2015).

For the chemical status, around 10% of lakes and rivers have a poor chemical status, and PAHs and toxic metals are highly contributing to this. Twenty-five per cent of the groundwater around Europe is dealing with poor status, where nitrate is the primary cause. Forty per cent of the rivers and lakes around Europe are still lacking assessment of their chemical status (EEA 2015).

Discharge of pollutants into stormwater may contribute to the low chemical status identified for the surface waters. Even though emission control strategies, such as the exchange of fuels and change of tyre additives, have been implemented in the EU, increased concentration levels of PAHs have been found in urban sediments in stormwater treatment facilities (Andersson et al. 2014).

2.3 Stormwater Pollutants

Stormwater from urban areas contains pollutants which can affect the quality of receiving surface waters and groundwater. Metals such as Pb, Zn, Cu, and Cd are, together with organic compounds such as PAHs and particulate matter (TSS) all found in stormwater (Grant et al. 2003). Besides these parameters are Electrical Conductivity (EC), nutrients (total phosphorus and total nitrogen), Non-Volatile Organic Carbon (NVOC), TOC (Total Organic Carbon) and Biological Oxygen Demand (BOD), which are all parameters used in the literature to describe the environmental composition and condition of stormwater (Göbel et al. 2007). In **Table 4** literature values for pH, TSS, NVOC and EC are summarised.

		Ph	ysical and Ch	emical Param	neters
Reference	Runoff source	рН	TSS (mg/L)	NVOC (mg/L)	EC (µS/cm)
Makepeace et al. 1995	Roof and road	4.5 – 8.7	1 – 36,200	-	-
Eriksson 2002	Road	5.5 – 9.3	4.0 - 4800	4.5 – 14	8.8 – 110,000
	Roof	3.8 – 11	-	-	10 – 1586
Göbel et al. 2007	High traffic density	6.4 – 7.9	66 – 937	-	108 – 2436
	Roof	4.7 – 6.8	13 – 120	-	25 – 269
Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II	Roof and road	6.8 - 8.2	19 – 98	9.0 – 364	146 – 963
Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III	Roof and road	6.5 – 7.0	10 – 659	3.8 – 24	50 - 836
Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V	Roof and road	4.6 - 7.6	24 – 178	247 – 302	366 – 27,000

Table 4: Physical and chemical parameters in road and roof runoff samples.

- = no data, TSS = Total Suspended Solid, EC = Electrical Conductivity, NVOC = Non-Volatile Organic Compound.

Table 4 shows a large variation for all of the parameters. The data shown for Makepeace et al. (1995), Eriksson (2002) and Göbel et al. (2007) are all reviewed data from different sites, while the data from Nielsen et al. (2015b – paper II), Nielsen et al. (2015c – paper III) and Nielsen et al. (2015e–paper V) are experimental data from three different sites. The pH values listed in **Table 4** show that pH in stormwater can be acidic, neutral and basic, and no pattern was observed for the runoff surface. The measurements within the same site also showed an event-to-event variation, but also a catchment-to-catchment variation.

The TSS concentrations range from 1 to 36,200 mg/L, with the highest concentrations found for stormwater from trafficked areas. Despite that TSS found by Nielsen et al. (2015 – paper III) came from a residential area with low traffic activity, a TSS concentration of 659 mg/L was found in one event. This was explained by the use of de-icing agents on the roads, contributing to the total mass of particulate matter and causing particles to flocculate or coagulate. In the three papers by Nielsen et al. the filter mesh size used to measure the TSS concentration was 0.7 μ m. In the reviews by Makepeace et al. (1995), Eriksson (2002) and Göbel et al. (2007), the filter mesh size is not mentioned. A filter with a mesh size of 0.45 μ m will give a higher concentration of TSS than a filter with a mesh size of 0.7 μ m. Even though it is important information to give for the TSS measurements, the findings in **Table 4** shows a catchment-to-catchment variation and also an event-to-event variation, which cannot be explained by the different filter mesh sizes.

The TOC is more frequently quantified in stormwaters than the NVOC, but since the NVOC are not removed in the stormwater by volatilisation, as some of TOC can be anticipated to do, the NVOC will be transported together with the stormwater. The concern for the NVOC in the environment is that it has been shown to cause mutagenic effects, allergies and a risk of cancer in aquatic species (Mahbub et al. 2011, 2012). As seen for the TSS concentrations, the NVOC are found in the highest concentrations in stormwater from catchments with traffic activities (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). This is also expected since motor oil and lubricants both contribute to NVOC in stormwater (Mahbub et al. 2011).

The EC is used to describe the salt concentration in stormwater, where a high EC indicates a relatively high salinity. As seen for the TSS and NVOC, EC values are higher for stormwater which has been in contact with road surfaces than for stormwater in contact with roofs. A high EC can, besides affecting the living conditions for the aquatic community, also cause particles in stormwater to flocculate and aggregate (Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III).

2.4 Inorganic Pollutants in Stormwater

Förster et al. (1996, 1999) have shown that the concentration and chemical content of pollutants in stormwater depend on the runoff surface. These surfaces can be divided into three groups (Göbel et al. 2007):

- Partly sealed surfaces (overgrown soil in backyards, urban green spaces and porous paving).
- Impermeable roof surfaces
- Impermeable road surfaces

The results in **Table 4** indicate that stormwater from road surfaces have the highest concentrations of TSS, NVOC and EC, even though 50 % of the urban stormwater in industrialised countries is in contact with roof surfaces (Förster 1996). Roof surfaces, on the other hand are shown to release chemical compounds to the stormwater. A variety of materials are used for roof surfaces, with some containing inorganic compounds such as metals. Wear and decay will release metals to the roof runoff. Simmons et al. (2001) inves-

tigated 125 households in Auckland, New Zealand, which collected stormwater from roofs and used it as drinking water. Metals were present in elevated concentrations and were attributed to the roofing materials. Van Metre et al. (2003) has shown that stormwater from buildings in Austin, Texas, USA, contributed with 55% of the total amount of metals in stormwater.

Literature values of metal concentrations found in stormwater from roofs and roads are shown in Table 5. Here the 13 metals from the Danish Directive 1022 (Bek 1022, 2010) are listed with recorded concentration ranges. In these findings, only Grant et al. (2003), Nielsen et al. (2015b – paper II) and Nielsen et al. (2015c - paper III) distinguish between metals in the different fractions: total, suspended and particulate. Makepeace et al. (1995), Eriksson (2002) and Göbel et al. (2007) describe findings in the literature where no fraction was considered. Compounds such as Cr, Cu and Zn are found in higher concentrations from roof runoff compared to the road runoff according to Eriksson (2002), while Göbel et al. (2007) only founds a higher concentration in roof runoff compared to road runoff for Zn. The suspended metal concentrations found by Grant et al. (2003) are higher than the ones found by Nielsen et al. (2015b – paper II) and Nielsen et al. (2015c – paper III). The catchment for the findings given by Grant et al. (2003) is not described and dose hampering explanations for the observed differences. The total suspension concentrations measured by Nielsen et al. (2015b - paper II) and Nielsen et al. (2015c – paper III) are comparable to the findings by Makepeace et al. (1995), Eriksson (2002) and Göbel et al. (2007). The catchments from which the stormwater in Nielsen et al. (2015b – paper II) and Nielsen et al. (2015c – paper III) originated concern an industrial area (2015b) and a residential area (2015c). The concentrations of Cu, Mn, Ni and Pb were highest in the residential areas. Because of the lower traffic density compared to the industrial area, the higher concentration cannot be explained by traffic, but could be from the roofs.

I aDIC 3. CUILDE		וכרוכת וווכומ	niinoi eii	WITTONS III	מוכו (אצו ב). AIL UL II	SIDING OF	ו אומי מור		יוו האם אווי	о г .		
Reference	Surface	As	Ba	Cd	co	c	cu	Mn	Мо	İ	Рb	>	Zn
Makepeace et al. 1995	Roof and road	0.1-210	66-87	0.05- 13730	1.3-5.4	1-2300	0.06- 1410	7-3800		1-49000	0.5- 26000	7.2-8.5	0.7- 22000
Eriksson 2002	Road	0.1-340	40-86	<0.05- 2000	0.08-6.7	<0.05- 210	<0.5- 1250	0.5- 1647	1.0-20	<0.02- 436	<0.5- 6400	7.2-29	1.73- 25500
	Roof	<5-19	ı	0.04-32	ı	1.4-510	1.1- 4500	ı	ı	2.6-70	1.1- 2764	ı	<0.5- 49942
Grant et al. 2003 (sus con) ^a		ı	ı	2-200	ı	6-30	13-100	ı	ı	5-70	5-24	ı	210- 3800
Grant et al. 2003 (Par con) ^b		ı	ı	2-4	ı	30-80	30-100	ı	ī	20-7400	50-90	ı	170-640
Göbel et al. 2007	Road	ı	ı	0.3-13	ı	6-50	97-104	,	ı	4-70	11-525	ı	120- 2000
	Roof	ı	'	0.2-1.0	·	2-6	6-3.4			2-7	2-493		24-4880
Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II (Total con) ^c	Roof and road	I	ı	ı	ı	I	7.3-15	43-82	ı	2.3-9.8	2.7-8.7	ı	26-47
Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II (sus con) ^d	Roof and road	ı	ı	ı		ı	5.1-12		ı	2.2-7.9	3.1-3.4	·	13-29
Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III (Total con) ^c	Roof and road	2.1-9.5	'		1.6-6.7	2.3-20	8-95	19-778		4.7-19	2.1-37		ı
Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III (sus con) ^d	Roof and road	2.9-14	ı	ı	<0.5-1.5	2.3-3.4	2.6-14	2.4-258	ı	1.6-18	1.4-3.1	ı	13-45
- = no data, a= sus 0.7 µm filter.	pended conce	entration after	.a 0.45 μm	filter, $b = f$	articulate co	ncentration	on a 0.45 µı	n filter, c = 1	cotal concer	ntration d = s	uspended o	oncentration	after a

Table 5: Comparison of selected metals found in stormwater (ug/L). All of the metals listed are found on the EOS list.

15

In Nielsen et al. (2015b – paper II) stormwater from five sites in Europe was compared according to its TSS, turbidity, pH, NVOC, EC, metals and PAH concentrations. A correlation between the TSS concentration (>0.45 μ m) and the total metal concentration was found, suggesting that metals are associated with the TSS (**Figure 3**). There was no correlation between the dry weather period and the metal concentrations measured were found on this study; these results are confirmed by findings in by Bertrand-Krajewski et al. (1998) and Lee et al. (2002).



Figure 3: Correlation between Total Suspended Solids (TSS) concentrations and measured total metal concentrations from 17 inlet samples from five sites in Europe. y=0.194x-0.109, $R^2 = 0.93$. (data from Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II).

2.5 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are a group of organic compounds released from both natural and anthropogenic sources. Wood burning and wildfires contribute to the PAHs in an aquatic environment together with the release of petroleum products and combustion of organic compounds. Regardless of the type of source, stormwater in urban areas discharges PAHs to surface waters (Stein et al. 2006).

2.5.1 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons as Compounds

PAHs generally occur as mixtures of different PAHs and not as single compounds. More than 100 different PAHs are created during incomplete burning of coal, oil, gas, wood, garbage or other biomass, such as tobacco and charbroiled meat. Seventeen of the PAHs are described more often in the literature due to: being more harmful, the frequency of being exposed to these 17 PAHs being higher than for other PAHs and these being the PAHs found in the highest concentration in the environment (ATSDR, 1995). **Table 6** gives the molecular structures, molecular weight, Log K_{ow} (octanol-water partitioning), Henry's law's constant (K_{H}) and water solubility of the PAHs investigated during experiments in Nielsen et al. 2015b – e (paper III – IV). The K_{ow} is the partition coefficient for an organic compound between water and octanol (lipid) and describes the potential of a neutral, lipophilic substance to bio-accumulate in aquatic organisms. The K_{H} describes the partitioning of a compound between the water and air phase at equilibrium and is used as indicator for the compound's potential to volatilise (ATSDR, 1995). The 15 PAHs in Nielsen et al. 2015b-e (paper III-IV) were chosen due to their chemical and physicochemical differences and their structural variation with different numbers of rings. The different number of rings makes it possible to group the PAHs into three groups, following their molecular weight:

- Low-molecular weight (LMW PAHs): naphthalene, acenaphthene and acenaphthylene (two- and three- ring structures).
- Medium-molecular weight (MMW PAHs): fluorene, phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoranthene and pyrene (three- and four- ring structures).
- High molecular weight (HMW PAHs): benzo[a]anthracene, chrysene, benzo[b]fluoranthene, benzo[k]fluoranthene, benzo[a]pyrene, dibenzo[a,h]anthracene and benzo[ghi]perylene (four- to six- ring structures).

Group	Compound	Molecular structure	Molecular weight (g/mol)	Log K _{ow}	К _н (atm*m ³ /mol)	Water solubility (mg/L)
	Naphthalene (Nap)	$\langle \rangle \rangle$	128.17	3.37	4.83 x10 ⁻⁴	31.69
LMW ^a	Acenaphthylene (Acy)		152.19	4.07	1.45 x10 ⁻³	3.93
	Acenaphthene (Ace)		154.21	3.98	7.91 x10 ⁻⁵	1.93
	Fluorene (Flu)		166.22	4.18	1.0 x10 ⁻⁴	1.68
	Phenanthrene (Phe)	$\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$	178.23	4.45	2.56 x10 ⁻⁵	1.20
MMW ^a	Anthracene (Ant)		178.23	4.45	1.77 x10⁻⁵	0.076
	Pyrene (Pyr)		202.25	4.88	1.14 x10⁻⁵	0.077
	Fluoranthene (Flt)		202.26	4.90	6.5 x10 ⁻⁶	0.20
	Chrysene (Chr)		228.28	5.16	1.05 x10 ⁻⁶	2.8x10 ⁻³
	Benzo[a] Anthracene (BaA)		228.31	5.61	1.10 x10 ⁻⁶	0.01
HMW ^a	Benzo [a]pyrene (BaP)		252.31	6.06	4.9 x10 ⁻⁷	2.3x10 ⁻³
	Benzo[b] Fluoranthene (BbF)		252.31	6.04	1.22 x10⁻⁵	1.2 x10 ⁻³
	Benzo[k] Fluoranthene (BkF)		252.31	6.06	3.87 x10⁻⁵	7.6x10 ⁻⁴
	Benzo[ghi] Perylene (BghiP)		276.33	6.5	1.44 x10 ⁻⁷	2.6x10 ⁻⁴
	Dibenz[ah] Anthracene (DBahA)		278.35	6.84	7.3 x10 ⁻⁸	5x10 ⁻⁴

Table 6: Physicochemical and chemical parameters for 15 selected PAHs. The PAHs are listed by molecular weight (ATSDR 1995).

a: LMW = low-molecular weight, MMW = medium-molecular weight, HMW = high-molecular weight

2.5.2 Sources and Occurrences of PAHs in Stormwater

The water solubility for the PAHs decreases with the increasing number of aromatic rings, naphthalene (two rings) is therefore more soluble than dibenz[ah]anthracene (five rings). Atmospheric PAH will reach urban surfaces by rainfall or by dry deposition. Other sources of PAHs pollution are: tyre particles, leaking of vehicle oils, vehicle exhaust, crumpling asphalt and parking lot sealants (ATSDR 1995, Maliszewska-Kordybach 1999; Brown et al. 2003; Eriksson et al. 2007). The PAHs will be subjected to long- and short- time atmospheric transportation before being removed by wet or dry deposition. In the atmosphere LMW PAHs and light MMW PAHs will be found in the vapour phase, while heavy MMW PAHs and light HMW PAHs will be found in both the vapour phase and particulate phase. The HMW PAHs are found predominantly in the particulate phase (ATSDR 1995). Deposition of PAHs from the atmospheric phase onto urban surfaces and stormwater varies with the individual PAH. PAHs sorbed to particles are most likely to be found in dry deposition while PAHs in the vapour phase will be found in wet deposition.

Concentrations of PAHs in stormwater can vary between catchments and from one event to another. Hwang and Forster (2006) have investigated PAHs in stormwater from an urban area with small-scale industry. The stormwater is discharged into the Anacostia River in the state of California, USA. The results are compared with previous studies from the same area and stormwater from similar catchments. Sebastian (2013) has measured PAHs in stormwater entering a detention pond in Lyon (France). The pond receives stormwater from an industrial area. In **Table 7**, their results are shown together with results from a similar Danish catchment (Albertslund) (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II) and a Danish residential catchment (Bagsværd) (Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III) and a Swedish traffic area and a Swedish residential/traffic/commercial area (Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). The comparison shows a variation in concentration among the PAHs between the eight catchments, but no big variation in the relative composition of the PAHs among the sits.
			` `													
Site	Nap	Acy	Ace	Flu	Phe	Ant	Pyr	FIt	Chr	BaA	BaP	BbF	BkF	BghiP	DBahA	Reference
Albertslund, DK ¹	<0.01- 0.03	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01 - 0.02	<0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01 - 0.01	<0.01	<0.01 - 0.01	<0.01	Nielsen et al. (2015b) – paper II
Bagsværd, DK ¹	0.1 - 0.34	0.02 - 0.05	BDL	0.02 - 0.09	0.02 - 0.09	0.07 - 0.38	0.42 - 1.94	0.2 - 0.98	0.0 - 0.3	0.07 - 0.28	0.04 - 0.28	0.04 - 0.25	0.03 - 0.4	0.02 - 29	0.05 - 0.31	Nielsen et al. (2015c) – paper III
Gårda, SW ¹	<0.03 - 5.68	<0.02 - 3.23	<0.01	<0.01 - 0.50	0.19 - 1.03	0.13 - 1.24	1.14 - 8.37	0.87 - 7.39	2.38 - 4.39	3.24 - 5.57	9.02 - 18	1.89 - 1.99	2.37 - 4.62	2.39 - 2.72	<0.17 - 1.17	Nielsen et al. (2015e) – paper V
Järnbrott, SW ¹	<0.03 - 9.4	<0.02 - 0.14	<0.01 - 2.6	0.01 - 4.7	0.15 - 1.8	0.18 - 4.4	4.71 - 7.6	4.69 - 6.3	2.30 - 7.41	2.62 - 8.8	7.52 - 27	1.56 - 3.0	2.32 - 5.9	2.04 - 3.5	<0.17 - 0.87	Nielsen et al. (2015e) – paper V
Lyon, F ¹	0.01 - 1.1	0.03 - 0.08	0.01 - 0.2	0.01 - .04	0.02 - 0.14	0.005 - 0.03	0.008 - 0.25	0.006 - 0.22	0.002 - 0.11	0.03 - 0.07	0.007 - 0.09	0.002 18	0.2 - 0.6	0.02 - 0.11	ı	Sebastian (2013)
Columbia, USA ¹	ı	ŀ	ı	0.06	0.48	0.06	0.47	0.64	0.62	0.28	0.42	0.98	ı	0.46	0.39	Hwang and Forster (2006)
Anacostia River, USA ¹	0.02 - 0.06	0.002 - 0.03	0.003 - 0.03	0.009 - 0.15	0.03 - 0.34	0.005 - 0.12	0.07 - 0.77	0.09 - 1.38	0.05 - 0.52	0.02 - 0.34	0.03 - 0.45	0.06 - 0.73	0.03 - 0.40	0.02 - 0.55	0.04 - 0.51	Hwang and Forster (2006)
Milwaukee, USA ¹	•	<8.2	<3.4	<0.60	<0.17 - 0.40	<0.12 - 0.37	0.58 - 6.0	0.80 - 8.5	0.34 - 4.0	0.18 - 2.0	0.300- 4.0	0.38- 4.40	0.22- 2.1	0.32- 2.7	0.38- 4.4	Hwang and Forster (2006)

Table 7: PAH concentrations ($\mu g/L$) found in total fractions of stormwater at seven different sites.

20

- = no data, 1: DK = Denmark, SW = Sweden, F = France, USA = United States of America.

The PAHs occurring in the highest concentration in the stormwater samples are Nap, Pyr, Flt, BaPyr, BbF and BghiP. In Albertslund, Denmark, only four of the PAHs were quantified and the stormwater from Lyon, France showed nerly all of the PAHs, but at lower concentrations compared to the stormwater from USA. Here both studies showed that all of the selected PAHs were present in stormwater. The stormwater collected in Lyon (France) were showing similar concentrations as for the catchment in Albertslund and Bagsværd (Denmark). The catchments of Lyon and Albertslund are similar, both with industrial activity. An intra-catchment variation was found for the concentration of the PAHs. The Bagsværd site shows higher concentrations of PAHs than the light industrial Albertslund site. Compared to the sites in Anacostia, Columbia and Milwaukee, also containing industrial catchments, the findings in the two sites in Denmark were in the same concentration range, but lower. The findings in Nielsen et al. (2015e - paper V) showed higher PAHs concentrations in stormwater from the two sites in Sweden and is explained by the higher traffic load. The findings in Hwang and Forster (2006) show that the traffic load is correlated with the PAHs levels (Table 7).

3 Particulate Matter, Colloids and Nanosized Particles in Stormwater

Particulate matter in stormwater is found in the size range of nm to cm (Grant et al, 2003; Roemer et al, 2007). Particulate matter in stormwater has traditionally been described as total, particulate and dissolved. The "particulate" fraction usually consists of the particles caught on a 0.45 μ m filter (the TSS), while the "dissolved" fraction describes the content in the filtrate passing the filter. These three fractions are insufficient to fully describe and understand the behaviour and effects of particulate matter in stormwater, especially because the fractions do not consider the colloidal and nano-sized particle fractions (Lead et al. 1997). Today it is known that the dissolved fraction is not a truly dissolved fraction but contains colloids and are therefore often determined the "suspended fraction" (Brown et al. 2003; Kalmykova et al. 2013; Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V).

Colloids and nano-sized particles have negligible settling velocities, as their small mass has a low gravitational force compared to surface frictional forces. The boundaries between colloids and nano-sized particles are overlapping (**Figure 4**), since nano-sized particles are defined as solid particles with one or more dimensions in the order of 1 - 100 nm (SCE-NIHR/002/05), while the colloidal material is defined as having at least one dimension between 1 nm and 1 μ m (Gilbert et al. 2009). The small size of the colloids and nano-sized particles creates a long settling time (years), making them able to travel over long distances. Larger particles, such as those in particulate matter will settle in minutes or hours and therefore, are not transported so far (Degrémont 1991).

Particulate matter creates concern, especially in an aquatic environment, where the particles play a role as vectors for many chemicals by providing a surface area for the partitioning of chemical compounds (Sansalone and Kim 2008), and may have detrimental effects on the aquatic ecosystem, e.g. fish (Bash et al. 2001). Particles, colloids and nano-sized particles are all able to sorb pollutants and have been shown to be associated with metals and PAHs in stormwater (Brown et al. 2003; Göbel et al. 2007; Kalmykova et al. 2013; Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). The low settling velocity for the colloids and nano-sized particles has shown to create a concern for enhanced transport of pollutants

into receiving waters of stormwater (Buffle et al. 1995; Gustafsson et al. 1997; Lead et al. 2006; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V; Rees et al. 1990).



Figure 4: Illustration of size overlaps of particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles found in stormwater.

Particles in stormwater originate from different sources, such as windblown soils from nearby land use, tyre and brake wear, vehicle exhaust, road paint, and pavement degradation (Kayhanian et al. 2012). Tyre wear is contributing to high amounts of particles in stormwater. It is estimated that $(7.3 - 500) \times 10^3$ tonnes of particulate matter are released from tyres on a yearly basis in countries such as Denmark, Germany, Great Britain, Sweden and the USA. Most of the particles are large enough to deposit on the road, furthermore, close to the road, only 5 % or less will become airborne particles. Therefore most of the particles will be removed during runoff events or street cleaning (Wik & Dave 2009).

3.1 Characterisation of Particulate Matter, Colloids and Nano-sized Particles in Stormwater

Particulate matter in stormwater has for many years been described as the TSS. Turbidity is another method to determine the concentration of particulate matter in stormwater. It has been showed that there is a correlation between the TSS and turbidity (Métadier & Bertrand-Krajewski 2012). Therefore is one of the other used to determine either TSS or turbidity. In Nielsen et al (2015b - paper II) were stormwater from seven sites compared. For all of the sites were both TSS and the turbidity measured and as seen in Figure 5 was there a correlation between the two stormwater parameters.



Figure 5: Correlation between measured turbidity and measured TSS values. =0.77x+6.25, $R^2 = 0.89$. (Data from Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II).

Turbidity is measured by detecting how much light are scattered by the suspended particles in the stormwater. Turbidity has that advantage compared to TSS that it is possible to measure in the field and do not need laboratory equipment. Therefore can turbidity be measured onsite, where samples for TSS have to be transported back to the laboratory. The two techniques do not describe the particulate particle size and therefore are they not giving the PSD of the particles in stormwater.

Determination of PSD in the μ m range has been performed for a longer time period than for nano-sized particles and colloids in the nm range. The settling velocity of the particles in sediment and stormwater samples has been used to find the PSD of stormwater particulate matter (Bäckström 2002; Kim & Sansalone 2008; Zander 2005). The Electrical Resistive Pulse (ERP) technique used by Coulter counters has also been used to find the PSD for particulate matter in stormwater, stormwater sediment and snowmelt (Borst et al. 2003; Westerlund et al. 2006). The particles were in the range of 1 – 24,500 μ m in re-suspended sediment or particles collected from roads and streets, together with particles in stormwater. PSD of re-suspended sediment is limited to settleable particles and fine suspended particles will not be detected with this approach. Electrical Resistive Pulse and settling techniques have application limitations for colloids and nano-sized particles in aqueous samples. The sizes of the particles are to small to be registered by the ERP and their settling, if any are found, are to slow to be measured. Dynamic Light Scattering techniques use the natural movement of particles in suspension (Brownian motion), and by measuring the distance that the particle travels over time, the spherical hydrodynamic diameter of a particle can be calculated (Goldburg 1999). By applying a laser to a liquid sample, the laser will hit the surface of a particle and the light will be scattered. Thus, DLS is a technique able to characterise the PSD of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater. The inherent light clouded structure of colloids could hamper the analysis, as it causes low scattering. A disadvantage when using the DLS technique for measuring particles in stormwater is that particle settling can be mistaken for Brownian motions or the settling motion can overshadow the Brownian motions, yielding false positives or no quantifiable results. Smaller nano-sized particles or colloids can be shaded by bigger particles, thereby being impossible to detect. To prevent settling or shadowing, measurements on PSD of colloids and nano-sized particles should always be conducted on the suspended fraction of stormwater. A good resolution can be obtained if information such as the reflexive index of the liquid and polydispersed index of the particles is given. Particle measuring techniques using DLS can have problems, especially with coloured samples (Hassellöv et al. 2008; Malvern 2004; Brar et al. 2011).

Other relevant techniques for PSD determinations are: Field Flow Fractionation (FFF) and Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM). The FFF technique separates particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles in a flow cell. A wide range of detectors are used to determine the PSD after separation, and often are DLS coupled to the FFF cell. Using the technique on stormwater could create a better separation of the colloids and nano-sized particles before detection, but the FFF needs a carrier liquid in the cell, and ionic strength and pH changes can occur when mixing the stormwater with the carrier liquid (Gimbert et al. 2003; Giddings 1993). Microscopy techniques such as TEM make it possible to visualise the particles in stormwater and, at the same time measure their sizes. Sample preparation is required and the liquid matrix of the stormwater has to dry on a grit before measurement. This could create flocculation or aggregation of the particles (Tiede et al. 2008).

3.1.1 Zeta Potential and Stability in Stormwater

The ability of colloids and nano-sized particles to flocculate or agglomerate in stormwater is, among other things determined by their surface charge and the outer surface potential. The zeta potential is defined as the potential difference across phase boundaries between a solid and a liquid. Determination of the zeta potential will also give the surface potential of a particle or colloid (Malvern, Zeta Potential). The zeta potential is related to the electrophoretic mobility of a particle in a liquid and is given as mV. The electrophoretic mobility is used together with the thickness of the electrical double layer, to calculate the zeta potential (Malvern, Zeta Potential).

Particles with zeta potentials between -10 and +10 mV are considered approximately neutral, unstable and, thus likely to flocculate, while particles with zeta potentials greater than +30 mV or less than -30 mV are considered strongly charged and, therefore, are repelling other particles (Clogston et al. 2011). Changes in the pH in the liquid surrounding the particles will also change the zeta potential of the particles. The point where the particle charge is neutral is called the zero point charge, and can be used for stormwater, to determine at which pH particles are most likely to flocculate/aggregate, thereby increasing in size and starting settling.

Zeta potentials of particles in stormwater from a highway and detention pond sediment were analysed by Kayhanian et al. (2012). The zeta potentials for the highway stormwater gave values from -20 to -23 mV, indicating a relatively low tendency to aggregate. The samples collected from the sediment in the detention pond all showed negative values and ranged from approximately -13 mV to -50 mV. In Nielsen et al. (2015b – paper II), zeta potentials in stormwater from five different catchments (residential areas, different highways and industrial areas) were found to be from -15.6 to -29.6 mV, indicating a negative surface charge on the particles, consistent with particles having a composition of organic acids e.g. fulvic and humic acid (Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III) and/or hydrolysed clay surfaces. The zeta potential of stormwater particles from a highway bridge was also found to be around -20 mV (-22.6 \pm 1.2 mV) by Sansalone & Kim (2008).

3.1.2 Characterising of Particulate Matter Using Coulter Counter

The Coulter counter principle using the ERP technique is developed to count blood cells, minerals, bacteria, etc. in aqueous samples with a diameter in the μ m size range. The technique works by measuring a change in the electrical field in a liquid. When a particle passes through two electrodes submerged in a liquid sample, a change in the electrical current will occur and this change is used to calculate the size of the particle (Azom 2015).

Westerlund et al. (2006) used the Coulter counter to determine the PSD of particles in snowmelt runoff and stormwater over a 3-months period in a catchment with approximately 7400 vehicles/day in Sweden. Westerlund et al. (2006) found that 87–98 % of the particles were found in the size range 4–

9 μ m and less than 2 % were found in the range of 25-120 μ m. Coulter counter findings in a similar catchment, but with a higher concentration of industry, in Lyon (France) and Albertslund (Denmark) also showed PSD with up to 100 % of the particles smaller than 10 μ m in diameter (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II). In the same study, the PSD of particles in stormwater samples from a residential area (Bagsværd, Denmark) and a catchment containing a highway was also included (Gårda and Järnbrott, Sweden). As found by Westerlund et al. (2006), the PSD of the particles from the catchments (Figure 6) showed that 95 % of the particles in the stormwater were smaller than 10 μ m in diameter.



Figure 6: Particulate matter in collected stormwater samples measured using the Coulter counter principle at three different sites (note the logarithmic x-axis). (Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V)

By using a settling method did Li et al. (2006) find particles in stormwater from three different highway sites in the same size range as Nielsen et al. (2015b – paper II). With the settling method Li et al. (2006) found that 90% of the particles were less than 10 μ m. Other methods applied have shown broader PSD of particulate matter in stormwater. Kim & Sansalone. (2008) dried the stormwater before measuring the PSD and found that 65-99 % of the particles were smaller than 75 μ m and only 3% were larger than 250 μ m. The pre-treatment could have caused aggregation of the particles.

Measuring the PSD of particulate matter with a Laser Particle Sizer (FRITSCH GmbH, Idar-Oberstein, Germany) using DLS as measuring tech-

nology on stormwater from three different events collected at Albertslund (Denmark) (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II), found a similar PSD to the Coulter counter findings (yet unpublished results) (Figure 7).



Figure 7: PSD in three stormwater samples from an industrial area in Denmark (Albertslund). The PSD was measured by using DLS (Laser Particle Sizer). (note the logarithmic x-axis). (Nielsen et al. 2015, unpublished analyses).

The particulate matter measured by using DLS showed that 95 % of the particles were <18 μ m in diameter. This is a larger average diameter than that observed with the Coulter counter for the same samples but not in the same high size range, as found by Kim et al. (2008). One of the drawbacks of using DLS for stormwater particles is that the reflexive index of the liquid and polydispersed index of the particles are required for the analysis, which can be difficult to find when the chemical composition of the particles and liquid is unknown.

3.1.3 Characterising of Colloids and Nano-sized Particles Using DLS

The application of DLS technology on colloids and nano-sized particles in natural samples is infrequent, while the technique is commonly used to measure PSD of industrial nano-sized particles (Abbas et al. 2011; Stone et al. 2010). Nielsen et al. (2015a – paper I) have used DLS to determine the stability in terms of PSD over a 6-month period of nano-sized humic acid (HA-n) colloids and nano-sized iron(III) (Fe-n) nano-particles. The HA-n colloids and Fe-n particles were initially of an unknown size and structure, and the reflexive index and poly-dispersed index were unknown. The PSD of the colloids and nano-particles is shown in **Figure 8**.



Figure 8: Particle size distribution measured by DLS (Zetasizer) as the hydrodynamic diameter of HA-n colloids (A) and Fe-n particles in suspension (B) at day 0. (note the logarithmic x-axis). (Nielsen et al. 2015a – paper I).

The size of the HA-n colloids was found in hydrodynamic diameter to be 154 \pm 4.2 nm over the entire 6-month period. The Fe-n particles were found to increase in size, starting with a hydrodynamic diameter size of 6.4 \pm 0.4 nm and ending up with a size of 11 \pm 2.2 nm. The PSD was found using a Zetasizer (Malvern Instruments). The PSD for the Fe-n particles was confirmed with TEM, where the crystalline structure of the Fe-n particles was shown together with the perimeter (Nielsen et al. 2015a – paper I). These findings show that the DLS technology can be used on mono-sized-solutions of unknown particles and colloids in aqueous samples.

In Nielsen et al. (2015a - paper I) the HA-n colloid and Fe-n particle are given as relative precise hydrodynamic sizes. This is possible since the suspensions only contain one type of particle or colloid. In stormwater, different sizes, shapes and a mixture of nano-sized particles and colloids will occur, whereby creating a wide range of hydrodynamic sizes. This will yield overlapping sizes and exact hydrodynamic diameters will not be possible to obtain by DLS. The PSD in stormwater has shown the presence of nano-sized particles and colloids in the size range of 5-540 nm in diameter (Nielsen et al. 2015c - paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e - paper V). The stormwaters from five different European sites did not show any significant difference between one another (**Figure 9**).



Figure 9: Particle size distribution measured by DLS (Zetasizer) as the hydrodynamic diameter of 18 stormwater samples collected from five different sites around Europe. The sites had catchments of a different character. (note the logarithmic x-axis). (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II).

The stormwater contained nano-sized particles and colloids, with most having a PSD within the range of 50-200 nm. That stormwater containing colloids and nano-sized particles has also been shown by Peikertová et al. (2013). They have found particles from car brakes in the size of 200 nm by TEM imaging, and concluded that the nano-sized particles released from the brakes could be released to the aquatic environment, especially since the particles were still found in the water phase after 72 h of sedimentation. TEM images (**Figure 10**), combined with element spectra, show particles from <40 to >300 nm in diameter, consisting of silica, sulphur, iron and titanium (unpublished data). The stormwater originated from the two Swedish sites described in Nielsen et al. (2015e – paper V).



Figure 10: Transmission Electron Microscope (TEM) images of nano-sized particles and colloids in stormwater. The "+" indicates the place where chemical spectra have been measured (a) iron oxide, (b) silica, and (c) titania and bismuth nanowires. Carbon-coated copper TEM grids were used for sample preparation, hence the C and Cu peaks (unpublished data). Dr. Mohammed Baalousha, Assistant Professor at the Center for Environmental NanoScience and Risk, University of South Carolina, USA is acknowledged for his collaboration with these images.

PSD in stormwater with DLS combined with a microscope (NanoSight), found similar distributions to the regular DLS for the colloids and nano-sized particles as by the regular DLS (**Figure 11a**) (unpublished data). By using the microscope during the measurements, Nielsen et al. (2014) found that the scattering light from the stormwater particles was on the limit to be detected. The accordance for the finding of PSD measured on both DLS instruments indicates that colloids occoured in the sample. The white spots in **Figure 11b** show the colloids and nano-sized particles were captured by the microscope. It can be seen that the concentration of particles was low and that the scattering from the particles was low as well.



Figure 11: a: Particle Size Distribution of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater measured by two different instruments using Dynamic Light Scattering (note the logarithmic x-axis). b: a screenshot of the stormwater under a microscope. The white spots are colloids and nano-sized particles scattering light. (Nielsen et al. 2014, unpublished analyses).

3.2 PAHs Associated with Particles, colloids and Nano-sized Particles in Stormwater

Hwang et al. (2006) have studied PAHs in a river receiving stormwater discharges from a 440 km² urban catchment. The study included both TSS and Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), where the difference between the two was that TSS was retained by a 1 μ m filter and the filtrate was considered TDS. Sixteen PAHs on the US-EPA surveillance list (ATSDR 1995) were found in the stormwater. Fluoranthene was found in the highest concentration (1.38 μ g/L) and acenaphthylene in the lowest concentration (0.002 μ g/L) in the TSS samples. No correlation between the concentrations of PAHs and the concentrations of either TSS or TDS was found (Hwang et al. 2006). In stormwater from a residential area in Denmark where PAHs were measured as the particulate (>0.7 μ m) and suspended (<0.7 μ m) fractions and yielded an average of 82% (65% - 92%) of the PAHs in the particulate fraction based on five time-proportionally sampled events (Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III). Herngren et al. (2010) has also measured PAHs in the particulate fractions. They divided the fractions into four:

- $>150\mu m$ (coarse to fine sand)
- 75-150 µm (very fine sand to silt)
- 0.45-75 µm (silt and clay)
- $<0.45 \ \mu m$ (dissolved solid)

Their samples originated from three different catchments: a residential area, an industrial area and a parking lot, and it was shown that all 16 selected PAHs were present in the size fraction containing silt and clay (0.45-75 μ m) from the parking lot. They also showed that the highest concentrations of PAHs were found in stormwater from the parking lot and the industrial area.

Stormwater from two different sites in Gothenburg (Sweden) were analysed for the concentration of PAHs in five different fractions: total, particulate, filtrated, colloidal and dissolved (Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). The particulate fraction contained particulate matter retained on a 0.7 μ m filter (not measured, but calculated from the total and filtrated concentrations), and the filtrated fraction contained the suspended fraction in the filtrate. The dissolved were extracted on a C₁₈-disk and the colloidal fraction was calculated from the filtrated and dissolved fraction. The percentage distribution of PAHs among the fractions (**Figure 12**) showed that the PAHs were found in fractions, but surprisingly high in the colloidal and dissolved fractions.



Figure 12: Distribution of PAHs among different fractions from two sites in Gothenburg, Sweden. (Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V).

During the first event, 70 % of the PAHs at Gårda, but only 22% at Järnbrott, were found in the particulate fraction. The PAHs concentrations in the particulate form may be overestimated as pure water samples and artificial colloidal suspensions showed that as much as 30 - 60% of the PAHs may be sorbed on the surfaces of the 0.7 µm glass-fibre filter. On the other hand, in real stormwater samples, with particles > 0.7 µm, this glass sorption effect is supposed to be much lower because the glass surfaces will rather quickly be covered by particles during filtration. During the second event the filtrated fraction contained the highest PAHs concentration at Gårda, while the dissolved fraction had the highest concentration at Järnbrott. This shows the possibility of PAHs sorbing onto particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles, but also to be dissolved in the water. The mechanism for the PAHs being dissolved in water is still unknown, but hypothetically they may form emulsions with other organic contaminants present in the stormwater.

Nielsen et al. (2015e – paper V) also compared the LMW, MMW and HMW PAHs in the fractions and found that the relative composition (REL %) was low for LMW PAHs in all samples, especially in Event 1 (Figure 13) at both sites. A long pre-existing dry period (7 days) prior to sampling could have caused a possible volatilisation of the LMW PAHs from the urban surfaces. Relatively high amounts of the HMW PAHs were unexpected found in the dissolved and colloidal fractions

To compare SPE methods for the dissolved fraction containing nano-sized particles, a C_{18} -columns were also used. The extraction procedure was similar to the one for the C_{18} -disk, but extractions were proceeding while following the instructions given by the manufacturer (Sigma-Aldrich 2015). Unfortunately, when loading the 1 L stormwater sample onto the column for extraction, a continuous flow was difficult to achieve. This created drying of the stationary phase, which caused low extraction of the PAHs from the stormwater (data unpublished).



Figure 13: PAHs measured in the fractions (particulate, filtrated, colloidal and dissolved) for samples collected at the two sites in Gothenburg, Sweden. (Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V)

The LMW PAHs are the most water-soluble and volatile (**Table 6**) of the quantified PAHs, which could explain the low frequency of detection. At both sites, MMW PAHs dominated, and possible sources are rubber tyres and diesel exhausts (Strömvall et al. 2006). The relative loads of HMW PAHs in the particulate fractions were the highest where the highest TSS and smallest

particles (10 - 100 nm) was recorded, i.e. Järnbrott in Event 1 (Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). This was explained by the higher Log K_{ow} of the HMW PAHs and their higher ability to sorb to particle surfaces (ATSDR 1995).

3.2.1 Sorption of PAHs to Colloids and Nano-sized Particles

Sorption of PAHs on particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles has been evaluated and quantified by controlling the release of PAHs from a silicone membrane into the stormwater (Nielsen et al. 2015d – paper IV). The controlled release of PAHs was quantified after equilibration and was conducted according to the sorption technique "passive dosing" (Birch et al. 2010). The enhanced capacity and free fraction of two PAHs (fluoranthene (Flt) and phenanthrene (Phe)) onto stormwater particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles were quantified.

The total concentration of the PAHs measured in the equilibrated solution $[C_{solution(eq)}]$ is the dependent variable, while the concentration measured in equilibrated pure water $[C_{water(eq)}]$ serves as a reference to the freely dissolved concentration in the solution. The free fraction is then determined as the concentration ratio of equilibrated pure water to solution:

$$ff = C_{water(eq)}/C_{solution(eq)}$$
 (1)

The enhanced capacity is then quantified as the concentration ratio between the solution and pure water:

$$E = C_{\text{solution(eq)}}/C_{\text{water(eq)}}$$
(2)
$$E = 1/\text{ff}$$
(3)

An enhanced capacity above 1 indicates that the stormwater is able to contain higher concentrations of PAHs than the reference water (Gouliamou et al. 2012).

The stormwater originated from Albertslund, where low concentrations of PAHs or no detected PAHs were present in the stormwater (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II; Birch et al. 2011). Time-proportional samples were collected during four rain events and filtrated through six filter sizes (120 μ m, 41 μ m, 10 μ m, 1.2 μ m 0.7 μ m and 0.2 μ m), giving a total of seven samples, including a total. The filtrates were then applied to the passive dosing technology, where C¹⁴ labelled Flt and Phe were loaded into the silicone membrane. Equilibrium was reached within 24 h and aliquots were measured on a scintillation counter (Birch et al. 2010). The findings in Figure 14 showed en-

hanced capacities for two (1 and 4) out of the four events which were higher than 1.



Figure 14: Enhanced capacity measured on stormwater, separated by different filter sizes $(1 = \text{total}, 2 = 120 \ \mu\text{m}, 3 = 41 \ \mu\text{m}, 4 = 10 \ \mu\text{m}, 5 = 1.2 \ \mu\text{m}, 6 = 0.7 \ \mu\text{m} \text{ and } 7 = 0.2 \ \mu\text{m}).$ Black circles = event 1, and green squares = event 4.

The findings by Nielsen et al. (2015d - paper IV) showed that the highest enhanced capacities were found for the total samples (filter 1). Fluoranthene with the highest Log K_{ow} also had the highest enhanced capacity and, therefore, the highest ability to sorb to stormwater particles. The enhanced capacities found for the filtrated stormwater showed a decrease when the particle content was reduced, indicating a loss of sorbing surface for the PAHs. The filtrates containing colloids and nano-particles did not show any evidence of the two PAHs released to the samples. This could be explained by a lack of particles in the catchment which is able to sorb the PAHs, giving the reason why low concentrations of PAHs are found in stormwater from this site (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II; Birch et al. 2011).

4 Stormwater Treatment Facilities

As seen in chapters 2 and 3 are pollutants an integrated part of stormwater as metals and PAHs sorbed to the surface of particulate matter, colloids and nano-sized particles. The TSS concentrations representing the particulate matter are in concentrations of 1 - 36,200 mg/L (Table 4, section 2.3). The results are derived from sites receiving stormwater from residential areas, industrial areas, parking lots and highways. Particle size distributions of the particulate matter showed that the majority of the particles were < 10 µm in diameter and colloids and nano-sized particles were also found to be present in stormwater with PSDs of 50 – 200 nm in diameter and with negative surface charges. The PAH concentrations in stormwater were highest for the MMW PAHs and the PAHs were found in the particulate matter fraction, but also found to be associated with colloids and as dissolved.

After implementation of the WFD, the focus on stormwater pollutants has increased to ensure that discharging stormwater to receiving waters is not negatively affecting the ecological and chemical status. The findings, as already seen through chapters 2 and 3 are that stormwater contains pollutants which could have detrimental effects in receiving waters, especially if discharged continuously over a longer period

Treatment and management systems of stormwater are often combined into one common system, where stormwater are retained while it is being treated. For treatment systems it is expected that pollutants will be removed, while management systems control and delay the stormwater discharge into receiving waters. Traditionally, retention ponds have been used to both store and treat stormwater before discharging into receiving waters. **Figure 15** shows three ponds where the one from Albertslund, Denmark and Lyon, France are both detention ponds, made to retain and treat stormwater, while the one at Järnbrott, Sweden only is a treatment pond and not suited to retain large volumes of stormwater. The difference often lies in the way the ponds are constructed, with room for the water level to increase without damaging the nearby area (Persson et al. 1999; Linde et al. 2002; Vollertsen et al. 2006; Hvitved-Jacobsen et al. 2010b).

Stormwater treatments systems made to only treat the stormwater are besides ponds as the one seen in Järnbrott, Sweden (Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V) often constructed to take up little space such as disc filters. These are treating the stormwater by filtrating particles (size depending on the mesh) from the stormwater and are not retaining the stormwater over a longer time. Infiltration of stormwater to soil in green gardens is another treatment technique which, in some circumstances can be considered a management technique (Dietz 2007). Green roofs, permeable asphalt and green gardens are management techniques known as Low Impact Development (LID) or LAR in Danish (Lokal Afledning af Regnvand) which remove and sometimes also treats the stormwater in the local area (Linde et al. 2002). This techniques or systems works with infiltration of the stormwater to the soil and thereby removing the stormwater from the stormwater drainage system.

4.1 Ponds

Detention ponds are used to store stormwater and slowly drain it or pump it to receiving waters over a few days. The ponds are characterised by the hydraulic retention time (HRT) for stormwater allowing particles and pollutants to settle, thereby reducing the concentration of pollutants emitted to the aquatic environment. Besides the settling processes treatment of stormwater occurs by microbial degradation, volatilisation, and photolysis as well as plant uptake. The main removal process will be bioaccumulation and sedimentation (Vezzaro et al. 2009).

The layout of the pond, irrespective of whether it is a wet or dry pond, has to be designed to give HRT long enough to reduce the particulate matter and pollutants (**Figure 15**). While wet ponds are designed to remove both particulate matter and dissolved pollutants, the dry ponds are mainly designed to store water for a shorter time and focus on reducing particulate matter. A sand trap, placed before the pond for large particles (>1 mm) to settle, and an oil separator, where oil is removed from the stormwater by phase separation, are often placed in front of the detention pond in Denmark to reduce and create an easy way in which to remove large particles and oil during maintenance (Linde et al. 2002).



Figure 15: Pictures of detention ponds in Europe. Left: detention pond in recreational area in Albertslund, Denmark. Middle: large detention pond in Lyon, France. Right: Järnbrott stormwater pond in a highway area in Gothenburg, Sweden.

4.2 Disc Filters

Disc filters are another treatment technology which was developed with the purpose of removing particulate matter from wastewater (Ljunggren et al. 2005), aquacultures and stormwater (Pedersen 2010). Disc filters can be used in combination with coagulation and flocculation or as the only treatment technique. The disc filters do not retain the stormwater and are therefore considered as a treatment system. In disc filters the stormwater passes through a filter with a chosen mesh size for example 40, 10, 2 μ m (Ljunggren et al. 2005; Pedersen 2010; Kruger 2015). Disc filters have been used in wastewater treatment for many years, but have in recent years been tested on stormwater (Pedersen et al. 2010; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III).

The disc filter is designed with woven cloth filter elements installed, and uses an inside-out flow pattern; this makes the filter useful for a variety of applications, including tertiary wastewater filtration and stormwater treatment. The water to be treated flows by gravity into the filter from the centre of the drum (**Figure 16**). The stormwater will pass through the filter and particulate matter will be retained on the inside of the filter drum. Once enough solids have accumulated on the inside of the media, the discs are cleaned by a countercurrent backwash system (Kruger 2015).



Figure 16: Drawing of the disc placed inside disc filter container. (Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III).

4.3 Other Treatment Techniques

Some of the less traditional techniques for treating stormwater are the use of permeable surfaces or semi-permeable surfaces. These techniques or treatment systems work by infiltrating stormwater into soil. By using impermeable surfaces on e.g. parking lots, stormwater can be leached directly to the soil and not be collected in the sewage system. Collecting stormwater in ditches by tilting roads and parking lots is another way of redirecting the stormwater away from the sewage system and treating it locally. The ditch could also work as both a channel and a leaching area when heavy rain is falling. Rain gardens are collecting stormwater and from here the stormwater are infiltrated to the soil or taken up by plants. The plants used in rain gardens should be able to live under dry and wet conditions due to dry and flooded periods. For all these techniques and systems sedimentation of particles will appear and should be taking into consideration when placing and designing these LID systems (Linde et al. 2002; wsud-Denmark).

Systems using infiltrating techniques are not common in Denmark, as the drinking water supply is derived from groundwater and a pollutant risk is enhanced. The infiltration techniques are typically designed to operate for 20 years before desilting i.e. mechanical removing of particulate matter. The infiltration systems have traditionally not been designed to remove pollutants,

but rather to reduce the runoff volume of stormwater. Over the last decade, it has been seen that surrounding soils and groundwater have been contaminated if the infiltrated stormwater has not been retained properly (Hatt et al. 2007).

4.4 Removal Efficiencies of Particulate matter, Metals and PAHs in Stormwater Treatment Facilities

The removal efficiencies in detention ponds have been investigated by, e.g. Wu et al. (1998). They quantified TSS, Zn and Fe in three ponds in North Carolina, USA. For two of the ponds, seven rain events were collected; for the last pond, three grab samples were collected. An avg. removal efficiency of 93 % was found for the TSS (**Table 8**). Eighty per cent of the metal Zn was removed, as well as 87 % of the iron.

The removal efficiency between the events varied from 18-100 % for TSS, 22-100 % for Zn and 2-100 for Fe. No explanation for the varying removal efficiencies between the events was given, but as seen in **Table 8** event-toevent variation has also been found by other authors. Nielsen et al. (2015b - paper II) that 16-62 % of TSS was removed in a detention pond situated in Albertslund, based on three events during the spring. Another example monitoring campaigns on removal efficiency in a large detention pond, Django Reinhardt Lyon (France), found that 60 - 74 % of Ni, Pb, Cu and Zn were removed. Removal efficiency of PAHs increased with the number of aromatic rings. This was seen by benzo(k)fluoranthene (five rings), which was removed better than acenaphthene (three rings). Their removal efficiency was 67% and 24% respectively (Sebastian et al. 2014). The removal efficiency of pollutants in wet ponds can vary between events, but an effective pond will remove 70-80 % of TSS, 65-75 % of Pb and 45-55 % of Zn (Vollertsen et al. 2006).

treatment facilitie	S.								
					Removal e	fficiency (%)			
						Metals			
Reference	Treatment facility	Site	TSS	Ni	Pb	Си	Zn	Cd	PAHs
Stanly 1996	Detention pond	Greenville, USA (t)	42 - 83	4 - 90	2 - 79	11 -54	6 -38	93 - 100	ı
Wu et al 1996	Detention pond	N. Carolina, USA (t)	82 - 100	-	I	I	69 - 100		ı
Birch et al. 2004	Wetland	Sydney, Aus, (t)	9 - 46	12 -72	27 - 85	21 - 86	33 - 87	I	ı
Terzakis et al. 2008	Wetland	Crete, GR (t)	87 - 90	I	20 - 49	31 - 61	26 - 75	I	49 - 71
Sebastian et al. 2014	Detention pond	Lyon, F (t)	53 - 86	32 -82	41 -89	6.8 – 88	21 – 84	9 – 81	37 – 65
Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II	Detention pond	Albertslund (c) Albertslund (p) Lyon, F (t)	- 16 - 62 70	<0 - 100 <0 41	100 100 49	41 - 55 60 - 100 59	34 - 64 56 - 69 41		100 100 -
Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III	Disc filter	Bagsværd, DK (c) Bagsværd, DK (p)	- 5 - 92	<0 – 25 59 - 100	<0 – 3.2 100	<0 – 53 35 - 100	<0 – 78 <0 - 74	I	13 - 59 18 - 86
Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V	Treatment Pond	Järnbrott, SW (t)	16	35	0>	42	21		93
	Settling tanks in serie	Gårda, SW (t)	-125	54	58	71	77		0>

Table 8: Removal efficiency on TSS, selected metals and PAHs in the fractions total (t), particulate (p) and colloid (c) fractions in stormwater

- = No data, b<0 = higher concentration in outlet water than in inlet water, TSS = Total Suspended Solid, PAHs = Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, USA = United States of America, F = France, AUS = Australia, GR = Greece, DK = Denmark, SW = Sweden The removal efficiency of a disc filter was found by Nielsen et al. (2015c - paper III). Five to 92 % of the TSS was removed when comparing the inlet to the outlet. The highest removal efficiencies were found when a cationic, nontoxic, starch-based biodegradable organic flocculant was added for flocculation prior to the disc filtration. The same study showed that out of the total concentration of PAHs in the stormwater, 30-40 % were adsorbed to particles < 0.7 µm and were subsequently discharged without any further treatment. Petersen (2010) has tested an identical filter on a similar catchment. She found that up to 64 % of the TSS was removed and that PAHs and metals concentrations were also reduced in the disc filter, and concluded that the removal efficiency of TSS and organic pollutants was sufficient enough to increase the quality of the discharged water.

Removal efficiencies using a filter system treating stormwater in a dual porosity filtration found that 92 - 99 % of the TSS was removed, together with 70 % of Zn and 88 % of Pb. Measurements on organic compounds was not performed, but the TSS and metal removal efficiency was in the same range as seen for the disc filter (Jensen 2009).

The removal efficiency in the stormwater treatment facilities is generally up to 50 % and also higher (**Table 8**). The ponds not only treat the stormwater before discharging into receiving waters, but also manage the stormwater by retaining large volumes. The filters are only working as treatment systems, especially where particulate matter is removed. Higher removal efficiencies could be obtained for all of the treatment facilities by adding flocculants prior to treatment. If the correct flocculant is used, yielding the particles in the stormwater to flocculate or agglomerate, a higher portion of the TSS will be retained. As described for the disc filter used in Nielsen et al. (2015c - paper III), the highest removal efficiencies were found when adding an organic cationic flocculent.

4.5 Treatment Effect on Particle Size Distribution

The PSD in stormwater for inlet and outlet stormwater has shown that, irrespective of treatment technology (detention ponds, stormwater pond, disc filter and combined sedimentation tanks), the PSD profile is seemingly unaffected between the inlet and outlet (**Figure 17**).



Figure 17: Particle Size Distributions (PSD) based on the Coulter counter principle in stormwater from five European sites (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II).

The graphs in **Figure 17** show that the majority of the particles are below 10 μ m in diameter. The difference between these graphs and the one shown in **Figure 5** of the PSD measured in Bagsværd and Sweden is that these graphs show the actual particle count on the Coulter counter, while **Figure 5** shows the accumulated particle volume. For all of the sites besides Albertslund, the number of particles was lower at the outlet than at the inlet, but no difference in sizes was seen. This could explain why PAHs were still present in the outlet in the colloidal fraction. As the stormwater treatment technologies only reduce the total number of particles and do not affect the PSD, the same particle surfaces are present in the inlet and outlet, only with a reduced number of particles in the outlet water.

5 Overview and Perspectives

In 2006 Lead and Wilkinson (2006) wrote the following: "Although colloids play a vital role in environmental systems, their precise function is still poorly defined, in spite of decades of research." In 2015 almost 10 years later, a search on Web of ScienceTM of the words "colloids" and "stormwater" gives a mere 31 hits. Where a search on stormwater and nano-particles only gives four hits, only one of the papers describes the PSD of natural stormwater particles (Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III), the other three describe the behaviour of engineered nano-particles in stormwater. Even though the knowledge on the research area has increased, a broader understanding of enhanced transportation of pollutants by colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater has still not been achieved.

The main issue of characterisation of colloids and nano-sized particles concerns the missing analytical methods. Different PSD techniques can be used to characterise the colloids and nano-sized particles in terms of their size, but these do not tell anything about the chemical content. As try to illustrate in **Figure 18** it can be seen that the lack of analytical methods makes it difficult to answer the research questions, as PSD makes it difficult to describe the chemical composition of the colloids, nano-sized particles and sorbed pollutants. By not knowing the answers to the questions, a full description of what is released from stormwater into receiving waters is not possible.



Figure 18: Some of the challenges for investigating the discharge of stormwater into receiving surface waters. The main problem is lack of analytical methods, to determine particle size distribution, chemical content and sorption behavior.

5.1 Particle Size Distribution in Stormwater

Particle size distribution of the particulate matter in stormwater (>1 µm) is described in the literature more than the PSD of colloids and nano-sized particles (Westerlund et al. 2006; Kim & Sansalone 2008; Nielsen et al. 2015b paper II; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). The findings show that particulate matter in stormwater is in the size range of 1-24,500 μ m, with the majority of particles <10 μ m in diameter. These findings could explain why pollutants such as metals and PAHs are found in discharged water from stormwater treatment facilities. The PSD of particulate matter in inlet and outlet stormwater has shown similar profiles, despite the stormwater being treated in a detention pond, disc filter or sediment tank (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II; Nielsen et al. 2015c – paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). In the literature, it is documented that metals and PAHs are found in discharged stormwater and that the highest concentrations of PAHs are found in the particulate fraction (>0.7 μ m); especially the HMW PAHs are found in this fraction (Nielsen et al. 2015c - paper III; Nielsen et al. 2015e – paper V). Inorganic compounds such as metals have also been found in discharged stormwater from treatment facilities. For a pollutant such as Zn, the highest concentrations (4.6-32 mg/L) were found in the colloidal fractions, while pollutants such as Cd and Co were found neither in the particulate nor colloidal fraction (Nielsen et al. 2015b – paper II).

5.2 Terminology

The non-standardised size of the filter mesh used to measure for example, TSS (2 μ m or smaller) (Roesner et al. 2007) creates a difficult comparison of findings. Concentration from a filter with a smaller mesh will be higher than findings with a larger mesh. The separation of organic and inorganic pollutants into different fractions, is described as total, particulate, filtrated, colloidal, suspended, dissolved and truly dissolved throughout the literature (**Figure 19**). Often the particulate fraction area described as what can be retained on a filter with a defined mesh. This filter can change from study to study, but often with the same size as TSS findings. The filtrate fraction.



Figure 19: Terminologies used on phase fractions in stormwater literature.

Hwang et al. (2006) and Nielsen et al. (2015c – paper III) use the term *suspended*, while Grant et al. (2003), Roesner (2007) and Kim et al. (2009) use the term *dissolved*. Again Nielsen et al. (2015e – paper V) use the term *filtrated*. The colloid fraction is often described as the fraction found by separating the suspended fraction from the truly dissolved fraction by C_{18} SPE or ultra-filtration (Brown et al. 2003; Kalmykova et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2009). Determination of what is in the respective fractions particulate, colloidal and dissolved phase can vary from paper to paper. Therefore, a standardisation of the fractions in the stormwater literature could create a more solid foundation for comparing concentrations of organic and inorganic pollution in the stormwater.

5.3 Legislation

The Environmental Quality Standards for inland surface waters are implemented through the WFD and are used to protect the quality of the aquatic environment. The discharge pollutants described above from stormwater treatment facilities are for some of the metals in the dissolved fraction (<0.45 μ m) (As, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn), and PAHs as the total fraction (all except for Ace, Acy, BghiP, Flu, Nap and Phe), exceeding the EQS. Since the EQS are not for the discharged water, but for the receiving water, the concentrations will be diluted. The big question is whether the treated stormwater is emitted from the stormwater treatment facility and discharged into surface water. Considering the detention ponds – Basin K, Albertslund (Denmark) and Järnbrott (Gothenburg, Sweden), both of them are part of the natural environment with treated water discharged into a nearby river. They are emitting the treated water into a small river, which ultimately, is discharging into the ocean. If the small river were considered a part of the stormwater treatment facility, the emission would not be under the WFD.

In parallel with the EU Directive, the United States of America have a similar regulation, known as the Clean Water Act, which can be dated back to 1972.

The regulation was made to regulate the discharge of pollutants into surface waters. The regulation allows the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (US- EPA) to implement pollution control programmes throughout the country. The Clean Water Act requires that all discharge of pollution into surface water must obtain a permit from the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). Besides having clear levels of control to meet the health and environmental objectives, the NPDES is also considering the nature of the receiving water and finding the most cost-effective way in which to control it (Hvitved-Jacobsen et al. 2010a).

The American way of protecting surface waters causes a higher level of control of discharged stormwater, while the European control depends on trust of the government of the individual country.

6 Conclusion

The results of this PhD thesis can be used to conclude the following:

Characterisation of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater is a challenge in terms of available analytical methods. In this thesis the DLS technique has been used to characterise the PSD of colloids and nano-sized particles in stormwater. The large variety of particle sizes in the stormwater can affect the characterisation, as large particles can shield smaller particles. Furthermore, the stormwater colloids and nano-sized particles have shown a low reflective scattering, making size measurements difficult as the responses are low. This thesis shows that the DLS technique can be used for stormwater with the mentioned reservations and that colloids and nano-sized particles are present in stormwater. They are in the range of 50 - 200 nm hydrodynamic diameters, with both mono- and poly-dispersed PSD. The majority of the colloids and nano-sized particles found in the stormwater were around 100 nm in diameter. The DLS technique cannot be used to determine sizes of single particle for stormwater colloids and nano-sized particles, and here TEM technique has to be used. The colloids and nano-sized particles in the stormwater challenge the engineering definition of "dissolved fraction" used by authors of existing literature. The dissolved fraction has frequently been described as the fraction which is passed by $a < 0.45 \mu m$ filter mesh. This thesis show that colloids and nano-sized particles are part of the dissolved fraction and therefore it cannot be classified as "truly" dissolved.

Larger stormwater particles were mainly characterise by the Coulter counter principle, and the majority of the particles present in the total fraction of stormwater had a hydrodynamic diameter of $< 10 \ \mu m$. This PSD was found in both inlet and outlet stormwater at different stormwater treatment facilities. The PSD profiles were similar for both inlet and outlet stormwater, and only showing a lower particle concentration at the outlet compared to the inlet. These findings indicate that the particles retained in the stormwater treatment facilities are $> 10 \ \mu m$ and those relative large particles are released to receiving waters.

Characterisation in terms of the surface charge of the particles in the stormwater showed that all measured stormwater had a negative surface indicating high content of inorganic particles as clay, silt and organic particles as humic acid or fulvic acid. The zeta potential were quantified in the range of -15 - (-30) mV, ranging from less stabile to stable particles. Where the less stable will be able to flocculate and over time create larger particles which potentially can settle.

Association of pollutants to the particles in stormwater showed that PAHs and metals were present in the all stormwater fractions; large particles, colloids and nano-sized particles. By dividing the stormwater into the fractions of: total, particulate, colloidal and dissolved it was seen that the highest concentration of PAHs was found in the particulate fraction (> 0.7 μ m). Here MMW and HMW PAHs were in the highest concentrations, measured up to 63 μ g/L in outlet waters. Even though the highest PAH concentrations were present in the particulate fraction, were still 30 – 40 % of the PAHs present in the colloidal fraction, while for some measurements the dissolved fraction contained up to 80 % of the PAHs. For inorganic compounds Zn quantified in the highest concentration in both the total and suspended fraction of the stormwater. Lead and nickel were present in all of the stormwater, while molybdenum and strontium were below the detection limit in all the stormwater.

The removal of metals in stormwater treatment facilities were found to be up to 78 % of Cr, 66 % of Cu, 96 % of Ni, 61 % of Pb and 74 % of Zn in the particulate fraction, while the suspended fraction showed up to 78 % removal of the metals. Removal efficiencies did not differ between the studied stormwater treatments facilities and none of them where more effective. In general, a lower removal efficiency was found for metals sorbed to the colloidal fraction compared to the particulate fraction.

The PSD did not show a change in the particle range for the particles < 10 µm in diameter during the treatment. Since only a small amount of the < 10 µm particles are removed in the studied stormwater treatment facilities, these particles create an enhanced transportation of the pollutants to receiving waters. The colloidal enhanced transportation of PAHs in the stormwater was also confirmed to be an environmental relevant possibility by evaluation of the partitioning and enhanced capacity of fluoranthene and phenanthrene to stormwater particles, using passive dosing.

7 References

- Abbas Z., Holmberg J. P., Hellstrom A. K., Hagstrom M., Bergenholtz J., Hassellöv M. and Ahlberg E. Synthesis, characterization and particle size distribution of TiO2 colloidal nanoparticles. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical Engineered Aspects* 2011, 384, 254-261
- Andersson M., Klug M., Eggen O. A. and Ottesen R. T. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in sediments from lake Lille Lungegårdsvannet in Bergen, western Norway; appraising pollution sources from the urban history. *Science of the Total Environment* 2014, 470–471, 1160–1172
- Arnold C. L. Jr. and Gibbons C. J. Impervious Surface Coverage The emergency of a key Environmental Indicator. *Journal of the American Planning Association* 1996, 62, 243-258
- ATSDR **1995**, Toxicological profile for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.

Azom 2015, http://www.azom.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=6020 (accessed 20-04-2015)

- Bash J., Berman C. and Bolton S. Effects of turbidity and suspended solids on salmonids. Washington State Transportation Commission Department of Transportation and in cooperation with U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway 2001.
- Bathi J. R., Pitt R. E. and Clark S. E. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Urban Stream Sediments. *Advances in Civil Engineering* **2012**, *2012*, 9 pages
- BEK nr. 1022 af 25/08/2010 "Bekendtgørelse om miljøkvalitetskrav for vandområder og krav til udledning af forurenende stoffer til vandløb, søer eller havet".
- Bertrand-Krajewski J-L., Chebbo G. and Saget A. Dirstribution of pollutant mass vs volume in stormwater discharges and the first flush phenomenon. *Water Research* **1998**, 32, 2341-2356
- Birch G. F., Matthai C., Fazeli M. S. and Suh J. Y. Efficience of a constructed wetland in removing contaminants from stormwater. *Wetlands* **2004**, *24*, 459 – 466
- Birch H., Gouliarmou V., Lützhøft H.-C. H., Mikkelsen P. S. and Mayer P. Passive Dosing to Determine the Speciation of Hydrophobic Organic Chemicals in Aqueous Samples. *Analytical Chemistry* 2010, 82, 1142–1146
- Birch H., Mikkelsen P. S., Jensen J. K. and Lützhøft H.-C. H. Micropollutants in stormwater runoff and combined sewer overflow in the Copenhagen area, Denmark *Water Science & Technology* **2011** *64.2*, 485-493
- Björklund K. Scources and Fluces of Organic Contaminants in Urban Runoff. PhD Thesis, Chalmers University of Technology, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Water Environmental Technology 2011
- Brar S. K. and Verma M. Measurement of nanoparticles by light-scattering techniques. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry* **2011**, *30*, 4-17

- Brown, J. N. and Peake, B. M. Determination of colloidally-associated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in fresh water using C₁₈ solid phase extraction disks. *Analytical Chimica Acta* **2003**, *486*, 159-169.
- Borst M. and Selvakumar A. Particle-associated microorganisms in stormwater runoff. *Water Research* 2003, *37*, 215-223
- Buffle J. and Lappard G. G.. Characterization of aquatic colloids and micromolecules. 1. Structure and behavior of colloidal material. *Environmental Science and Technology* 1995, 29, 2169-2175
- Bäckström M. Sediment transport in grassed swales during simulated runoff ecents. *Water Science and Technology* **2002**, *45*, 41-49
- Clogston J. D. and patri A. K. Characterization of Nanoparticles Intended for Drug Delivery, *Methods in Molecular Biology* **2011**, vol. 697, DOI:10.1007/978-1-60327-198-1 6
- Degrémont (1991) Water treatment handbook 6th edition. ISBN: 2950398413
- Dietrich W. E. Settling velocity of natural particles. *Water Resources Research* 1982, 18, 1615-1626
- Dietz M. E. Low Impact Development Practices: A Review of Current Research and Recommendations for Future Directions. *Water Air Soil Pollution* **2007**, *186*, 351 - 363
- Directive 2005/69/EC, amending for the 27th time Council Directive 76/769/EEC on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States relating to restrictions on the marketing and use of certain dangerous substances and preparations (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in extender oils and tyres) 09.12.2005
- EEA The European Environment-state and outlook 2015-3. Protecting, Coserving and Enhancing natural Capital 2015
- EPA method 106.2 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. *Residue, Non-Filterable Gravimetric, Dried at103–105 °C*; Method 160.2; U.S. EPA National Exposure Research Laboratory (NERL): ResearchTriangle Park, NC, USA, 1971.
- Eriksson E. Potential and problems related to reuse of water in households. PhD Thesis, Technical University of Denmark, Department of Environmental Engineering **2002**
- Eriksson E., Baun A., Mikkelsen P. S. and Ledin A. Risk assessment of xenobiotics in stormwater discharged to Harrestrup Å, Denmark. *Desalination* **2007**, *215*, 187–197
- Fowler A. M. and Hennessy K. J. Potential Impacts of Global Warming on the Frequency and Magnitude of Heavy Precipitation. *Natural Hazards* **1995**, *11*, 283-303.
- Förster J. Patterns of roof runoff contamination and their potential implications on practice and regulation of treatment and local infiltration. *Water Science and Technology* 1996, 33, No. 6, 39-48
- Förster J. Variability of roof runoff quality. *Water Science and Technology* **1999**, *39*, No 5, 137-144
- Giddings J. C. Field-Flow Fractionation: Analysis of Micromolecular, Coilloidal, and Particulate Materials. *Science* **1993**, *260*, 1456-1465

- Gilbert R. G., Hess M., Jenkins A.D., Jones R.G., Kratochvil P. and Stepto R. F. T. Dispersity in polymer science. *Pure and Applied Chemistry* **2009**, *81*, 351-353
- Gimbert L. J., Andrew K. N., Haygarh P. M. and Worsfold P. J. Environmental applications of flow field-flow fractionation (FIFFF). *Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 2003, 22, 615-633
- Goldburg W. I. Dynamic Light Scattering. Amarican Journal of Physics 1999, 67, 1152-1160
- Gouliarmou V., Smith K. E. C., Wollesen de Jonge L. and Mayer P. Measuring Binding and Speciation of Hydrophobic Organic Chemicals at Controlled Freely Dissolved Concentrations and without Phase Separation. *Analytical Chemistry* **2012**, *84*, 1601–1608
- Grant S. B., Rekhi N. V., Pise N. R., Reeves R. L., Matsumoto M., Wistrom A., Moussa L., Bay S. and Kayhaniann M. A review of the contaminants and toxicity associated with particles in stormwater runoff. *California Department of Transport* **2003**
- Gunawardena J., Egodawatta P., Ayoko G. A. and Goonetilleke A. Atmospheric deposition as a source of heavy metals in urban stormwater. *Atmospheric Environment* **2013**, *68*, 235-242
- Gupta K. and Saul A. J. Specific relationship for the first flush load in combined sewer flows. *Water Research* **1996**, *30*, 1244-1252
- Gustafsson O. and Gschwend P. M. Aquatic colloids: Concepts, definitions, and current challenges. *Limnology and Oceanography* **1997**, *42*, No. 3; 519-528
- Göbel, P., Dierkes, C. and Coldewey, W.G. Storm water runoff concentration matrix for urban areas, *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology* **2007**, *91*, 26-42.
- Hassellöv M., Readman J. W., Ranville J. F. and Tiede K. Nanoparticle analysis and characterization methodologies in environmental risk assessment of engineered nanoparticles. *Ecotoxicology* 2008, 17, 344-361
- Hartmann, D.L., A.M.G. Klein-Tank, Rusticucci, M., L.V. Alexander, S. Bronnimann, Y. Charabi, F.J. Dentener, E.J. Dlugokencky, D.R. Easterling, A. Kaplan, B.J. Soden, P.W. Thorne, M. Wild and P.M. Zhai. Observations: Atmosphere and Surface, in The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, et al. Editors, 2013 159-254
- Hatt B. E., Fletcher T. D. and Deletic A. Treatment performance of gravel filter media: Implications for design and application of stormwater infiltration systems. *Water Research* 2007, 41, 2513–2524
- Herngren L., Goonetilleke A., Ayoko G. A and Mostert M. M. M. Distribution of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban stormwater in Queensland, Australia. *Environmental Pollution* **2010**, *158*, 2848-2856
- Henze M., Gabriel S., Hasling A., Høg A., Jansen J., Hansen P. and Rosenørn S. På vej mod fremtidens afløbssystemer: En ATV-rapport fra for projektet Håndtering af regnog spildevand i byer. ISBN 87-7836-039-0 2004. p. 10-22
- Hwang H. and Foster G. Characterization of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban stormwater runoff flowing into the tidal Anacostia River, Washington, DC, USA. *Environmental Pollution* **2006**, *140*, 416-426
- Hvitved-Jacobsen T., Vollertsen J. and Nielsen A. H. Urban and Highway stormwater pollution. **2010a** ISBN 978-1-4398-2685-0 p. 317-323
- Hvitved-Jacobsen T., Vollertsen J. and Nielsen A. H. Urban and Highway stormwater pollution. 2010b. ISBN 978-1-4398-2685-0 p. 125-133
- Ingeniøren. Replik: Kloakker kan ikke håndtere fremtidens skybrud alene. Danish Newspaper 15th of November 2012
- Jensen M. B. Dobbeltporøs Filtrering Pilotafprøvning Rensning af vejvand i Ørestad Hændelse 1-25, januar – juli 2007. Skov & Landskab, KU-LIFE, University of Copenhagen **2009**.
- Johannsdottir L., Davidsdottir B., Goodsite M. and Olafsson, S. What is the potential and demonstrated role of non-life insurers in fulfilling climate commitments? A case study of Nordic insurers. *Environmental Science and Policy* 2014, 38, 87-106.
- Kalmykova, Y., Björklund, K., Strömvall, A-M. and Blom, L. Partitioning of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, alkylphenols, bisphenol A and phthalates in landfill leachates and stormwater. *Water Research* **2013**, *47*, 1317-1328.
- Kayhanian M., McKenzie E.R., Leatherbarrow J.E., Young T.M. Characteristics of road sediment fractionated particles captured from paved surfaces, surface run-off and detention basins. *Science of the Total Environment* 2012, 439, 172–186
- Kim G., Yur J. and Kim J. Diffuse pollution loading from urban stormwater runoff in Daejeon city, Korea. *Journal of Environmental Management* **2007**, *85*, 9-16
- Kim J.-J. and Sansalone J. J. Event-based size distributions of particulate matter transported during urban rainfall-runoff events. Water Research **2008**, *42*, 2756-2768
- Kim D. and Young T. M. Significance of Indirect Deposition on Wintertime PAH Concentrations in an Urban Northern California Creek. *Environmental Engineering Science* 2009, 26, 269-278
- Kruger 2015 <u>http://www.krugerusa.com/medias/files/hyrdrotech-discfilter.htm</u> (accessed 06-05-2015)
- Lee J. H., Ketchum L. H. Choe J. S. and Yu M. J. First flush analysis of urban storm runoff. *The Science of the Total Environment* **2002**, *293*, 163-175
- Lead J. R., Davidson W., Hamilton-Tylor J. and Buffle J. Characterizing Colloidal Material in Natural Waters. *Aquatic Geochemistry* **1997**, *3*, 213–232
- Lead J. R. and Wilkinson K. J. Aquatic Colloids and Nanoparticles: Current Knowledge and Future Trends, *Environmental Chemistry*, **2006**, *3*, 159-171
- Li X., Lau S.-L., Kayhanian M. and Stenstrom M. K. Dynamic Characteristics of Particle Size Distributionin Highway Runoff: Implications for Settling Tank Design. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* **2006**, *132*, 852-861

- Linde J. J., Winther L., Jensen H. T., Mathiasen L. L. and Johansen N. B. Afløbsteknik. 2002, ISBN 87-502-0827-6, p167-181
- Ljunggren M., Nilsson B., Strube R., Jönsson L. and Jansen J. La C. Microscreening for stormwater treatment. *Vatten* **2005**, *61*, 109-114
- Mahbub P., Ayoko A. G., Goonetilleke A. and Egodawatta P. Analysis of the build-up of semi and non volatile organic compounds on urban roads. *Water Research* **2011**, *45*, 2835-2844
- Mahbub P., Goonetilleke A. and Ayoko A. G. Prediction of the wash-off of traffic related semi- and non-volatile organic compounds from urban roads under climate change in-fluenced rainfall characteristics. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **2012**, *213-214*, 83-92
- Makepeace D. K., Smith D. W. and Stanly S. J. Urban stormwater quality: Summary of contaminant data. *Environmental Science and Technology* **1995**, *25*, 93-139
- Malamataris D. Evaluation of Pollutant liading in highway runoff and relevant legislative framework. *Global NEST Journal* **2014**, *16*, 797-804
- Maliszewska-Kordybach B. Sources, Concentrations, Fate and Effects of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in the Environment. Part A: PAHs in Air. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies* **1999**, *8*, No. 3; 131-136
- Malvern Instruments. Zetasizer Nano Series User Manual. Man0317 2004, 1.1
- Malvern Instruments. Zetasizer Zeta Potential <u>http://www3.nd.edu/~rroeder/ame60647/slides/zeta.pdf</u> (accessed 26.04.2015)
- Métadier M. and Bertrand-Krajewski J.-L. The use of long-term on line turbidity measurements for the calculation of urban stormwater pollutant concentrations, loads, pollutographs and intra-event fluxes. *Water Research* 2012, *12*, 30. 21 p.
- Moilleron R., Gonzalez A., Chebbo G. and Thévenot D. R. Determination of aliphatic hydrocarbons in urban runoff samples from the "Le Marais" experimental catchment in Paris centre. *Water Research* 2002, *36*, 1275-1285
- Murakami M., Nakajima F. and Furumai H. Size- and density-distributions and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban road dust, *Chemosphere* **2005**, *61*, 783-791
- Nielsen K, Eriksson E and Mikkelsen P. S. Particle Size Destribution measurements on stormwater using Dynamic Light Scattering with a NanoSight and a Laser Particle Sizer. Data un-published **2014**
- Nielsen K., Mørch-Madsen A., Baun A. and Eriksson E. Characterisation and stability of humic acid and iron nano-sized colloids intended for simulated stormwater experiments. *Submitted* **2015a**.
- Nielsen K., Sebastian C., Mikkelsen P. S., Eriksson E. Particle size distribution found in stormwater runoff. *Manuscript* **2015b**
- Nielsen K., Mørch-Madsen A., Mikkelsen P. S., Eriksson E. Effect of Disc Filtration with and without Addition of Flocculent on Nano- and Micro-Particles and Their Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater. *Water* **2015c**, *7*, 1306-1323

- Nielsen K., Mayer P., Eriksson E. Sorption of fluoranthene and phenanthrene to stormwater runoff particles from mm to nano-scale using passive dosing. *Manuscript* 2015d
- Nielsen K., Kalmykova Y., Strömvall A-M., Baun B., Eriksson E. Particle Phase Distribution of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater Runoff Using Humic Acid and Iron Nano-sized Colloids as Test Particles. *Submitted* **2015e**
- Norin M. and Strömvall A-M. Leaching of organic contaminants from storage of reclaimed asphalt pavement. *Environmental Technology* **2004**, *25*, 323-340
- Peikertová P., Kukutschová J., Vávra I., Matějka V., Životský O., Vaculík M., Lee P. W. and Filip P. Water suspended nanosized particles released from nonairborne brake wear debris. *Wear* 2013, 306, 89–96
- Persson J., Somes N. L. G. and Wong T. H. F. hydraulics efficiency of constructed wetland and ponds. *Water Science and Technology* **1999**, *40*, 291-300
- Pedersen B. M. Tilførsel af lokalt renset regnvand til ferskvandsområder. *Danich EPA* 2010. (In Danish).
- Petersen M., Clausen L., Sølling J., Vezzaro L., Eriksson E. and Mikkelsen P. S. Afstrømning fra tagflader og befæstede arealer – Vurdering forureningsrisici for grundvand. *Danish EPA* 2013, ISBN: 978-87-7279-592-8 (in Danish).
- Pettersson T. J. R. Stormwater ponds for pollution reduction. PhD Thesis, Chalmers University of Technology, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Water Environmental Technology **1999**
- Pettersson T. J. R., Strömvall A-M. and Ahlman S. Underground sedimentation systems for treatments of highway runoff in dense city areas, 10th International conference on urban drainage, Copenhagen/Denmark 2005, 21-26 August
- Rees T. F. and Ranville J. F. Collection and analysis of colloidal particles transported in the Mississippi river, U.S.A., *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology* **1990**, *6*, 241-250
- Revitt D. M., Hamilton R. S. and Warren R.S. The transport of heavy metals within a small urban catchment. *The Science of the Total Environment* **1990**, *93*, 359-373
- Roesner L. A., Pruden A. and Kidner E. M. Improved protocol for classification and analysis of stormwater-borne solids. Water Environmental Research Foundation **2007**
- Sansalone J. J. and Cristina C. M. First Flush Concepts for Suspended and Dissolved Solids in Small Impervious Watersheds Journal of Environmental Engineering 2004, 130, 1301-1314.
- Sansalone J. J. and Kim J.-Y. Suspended particle destabilization in retained urbanstormwater as a function of coagulant dosage and redox conditions. *Water Research* **2008**, *42*, 909-922
- SCENIHR/002/05 The appropriateness of existing methodologies to assess the potential risks associated with engineered and adventitious products of nanotechnologies. Scientific committee on emerging and newly identified health risks (SCENIHR) **2006**, European Commission, Health & Consumer protection Directirate-General

- Sebastian C. Bassin de retenue des eaux pluviales en milieu urbain : performance en matière de piégeage des micropolluants. PhD Thesis, ²Université de Lyon; INSA de Lyon, LGCIE 2013 http://www.graie.org/othu/pdfothu/these C SEBASTIAN2013.pdf
- Sebastian C., Sylvie Barraud S., Gonzalez-Merchan C., Perrodin Y. and Visiedo R. Stormwater retention basin efficiency regarding micropollutant loads and ecotoxicity. *Water Science & Technology* **2014**, 69.5, 974-981
- Seinfeld J. H. and Pandis S. N. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics: From air pollution to climate change, ISBN: 978-0-471-72017-1 2006, 936-953
- Simmons G., Virginia H., Lewis G., Whitmore J. and Gao W. Contamination of potable roof-collected rainwater in Auckland, New Zealand. *Water Research* 2001, 35, No. 6 1518-1524
- Sigma Aldrich 2015, C₁₈-Column extraction, link: http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/analytical-chromatography/samplepreparation/spe/reversedphase-methodology.html [accessed 26/01/2015]
- Stanly D. W. Pollutant removal by a stormwater detention pond. *Water Environmental Research* **1996**, *68*, 1076 1083
- Stein E. D., Tiefenthaler L. L. and Schiff K. Watershed-based sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in urban storm water. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 2006, 25, 373-385
- Stone V., Nowack B., Baun A., Brink N. V.D., Kammer F. V.D., Dusinska M., Handy R., Hankin S., Hassellöv M., Joner E and Fernandes T. F. Nanomaterials for environmental studies: Classification, reference material issues, and strategies for physico-chemical characterization. *Science of the Total Environment* 2010, 408, 1745-1754
- Strömvall A-M., Norin M. and Pettersson T. J. R., Organic contaminants in urban sediments and vertical leaching in road ditches, 8th Highway and urban environment Symposium, Nicosia/Cyprus 2006, 235-247
- Terzakis S., Fountoulakis M.S., Georgaki I., Albantakis D., Sabathianakis I., Karathanasis A.D., Kalogerakis N. and Manios T. Constructed wetlands treating highway runoff in the central Mediterranean region. *Chemosphere* **2008**, *72*, 141–149
- Tiede K., Boxall A. B., Tear S. P., Lewis J., David H. and Hassellöv M. Detection and characterization of engineered nanoparticles in food and the environment. *Food Addit Contam* **2008**, 25, 795-821.
- Van Metre P., Mahler B. J. and Furlong E. T., Urban Sprawl Leaves Its PAH Signature. *Environmental Science and Technology* **2000**, *34*, 4064-4070
- Van Metre P.C. and Mahler B.J. The contribution of particles washed from rooftops to contaminant loading to urban streams. *Chemosphere* **2003**, *52*, 1727-1741
- Vejen, F. Tropical cloudbursts over Copenhagen the 2nd of July 2011 the mother of the monster rains. *Vejret* 2011, *128*, 1-11 (in Danish).

- Vollesen J., Nielsen A. H., Rasmussen M. and Hvitved-Jensen T. Våde regnvandsbassiner. Mikroben 2006, 36, 4-6
- Vezzaro L., Eriksson E. and Mikkelsen P. S. Assessment of removal efficiency of stormwater Best Management Practices. Danish Technical University, Department of water and environmental engineering 2009.
- Watts A. W., Ballestero T. P., Roseen R. M. and Houle J. P. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in stormwater runoff from sealcoated pavements. *Environmental Science and Technology* 2010, 44, 8849-8854
- Westerlund C. and Viklander M. Particles and associated metals in road runoff during snowmelt and rainfall. *Science of the Total Environment* **2006**, *362*, 143-156
- WFD 2000/60/EC: Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy
- Wik A. and Dave G. Occurrence and effects of tire wear particles in the environment A critical review and an initial risk assessment. *Environmental Pollution* **2009**, *157*, 1-11

Wsud-denmark wsud-denmark.com (assessed 11.05.2015)

- Wu S., Holman R. E. and Dorney J. R. Systematic Evaluation of Pollutant Removal by Urban Wet Detention Ponds. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* 1998, *November*, 983-988
- Zander J. M. Road sediment: characterization and implications for the performance of vegetated strips for treating road run-off. *Science of the total environment* **2005**, *339*, 41-47
- Zgheib S., Moilleron R., Saad M. and Chebbo G. Partition of pollution between dissolved and particulate phases: What about emerging substances in urban stormwater catchments? *Water Research* **2001**, *45*, 913-925.

8 Papers

- I. Nielsen K., Mørch-Madsen A., Baun A. and Eriksson E. Characterisation and stability of humic acid and iron nano-sized colloids intended for simulated stormwater experiments (*Submitted*).
- **II.** Nielsen K., Mikkelsen P. S., Sebastian C. and Eriksson E. Physical and chemical characterisation of stormwater particles ($< 50 \mu m$) and associated metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (*Manuscript*).
- III. Nielsen K., Mørch-Madsen A., Mikkelsen P. S., Eriksson E. Effect of Disc Filtration with and without Addition of Flocculent on Nano- and Micro-Particles and Their Associated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater. *Water*, 2015, 7, 1306–132
- **IV.** Nielsen K., Mayer P., Eriksson E. Co-transport of PAHs by Particulate Matter, Colloids and Nano-sized Particles using Analytical Passive Dosing to Determine the Enhanced Capacity of Stormwater (*Manuscript*).
- V. Nielsen K., Kalmykova Y., Strömvall A-M., Baun A., Eriksson E. Particle Phase Distribution of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stormwater – Using Humic Acid and Iron Nano-sized Colloids as Test Particles. *Science* of the Total Environment, 2015, 532, 103–111

In this online version of the thesis, paper **I-V** are not included but can be obtained from electronic article databases e.g. via www.orbit.dtu.dk or on request from:

DTU Environment Technical University of Denmark Miljøvej, Building 113 2800 Kgs. Lyngby Denmark

info@env.dtu.dk

The Department of Environmental Engineering (DTU Environment) conducts science-based engineering research within four sections: Water Resources Engineering, Urban Water Engineering, Residual Resource Engineering and Environmental Chemistry & Microbiology.

The department dates back to 1865, when Ludvig August Colding, the founder of the department, gave the first lecture on sanitary engineering as response to the cholera epidemics in Copenhagen in the late 1800s.



Miljoevej, building 113 2800 Kgs. Lyngby Denmark

Phone: +45 4525 1600 Fax: +45 4593 2850 e-mail: info@env.dtu.dk www.env.dtu.dk